Republic of Iraq Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research The University of Mustansiriyah College of Pharmacy



Biochemical and Immunohistochemical Study of Sildenafil on Various Tissues of Male Rats

A thesis

Submitted to the Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology and the Committee of Graduate Studies of the College of Pharmacy/ the University of Mustansiriyah in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Pharmacy (Pharmacology and Toxicology)

> By Ibrahim Hassan Nashmee

(B.Sc. Pharmacy 2002)

Supervised by

Professor Dr. Mustafa Ghazi Al-Abbasi Assistant Professor Dr. Mustafa Mohammed Al-Obeidy

2016 A.D.

1437 A.H.

Certificate

We certify that this thesis, (**Biochemical and Immunohistochemical Study of Sildenafil on Various Tissues of Male Rats**) was prepared under our supervision at the department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, College of Pharmacy / Al-Mustansiriyah University as a partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of master of science in Pharmacy (Pharmacology and Toxicology).

Signature:

Name: Professor Dr. Mustafa Ghazi Al-Abbassi

Address: Dept. of Pharmacology and Toxicology, College of Pharmacy/ Al-Mustansiriyah University.

Date:

Signature:

Name: Assist. Prof. Dr. Mustafa Mohammed Al-Obeidy

Address: Dept. of Human Anatomy, Histology and Embryology, College of Medicine / Al- Mustansiriyah University.

Date:

In view of the available recommendations, we forward this thesis for debate by examination committee.

Signature:

Name: Lect. Dr. Inam Sameh Arif

Chairwoman of the committee of graduate studies in the College of Pharmacy / Al- Mustansiriyah University.

Date:

Certificate

We, the examining committee after reading this thesis, (**Biochemical and Immunohistochemical Study of Sildenafil on Various Tissues of Male Rats**), in its contents, find it adequate as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of master of science in Pharmacy (Pharmacology and Toxicology). Signature: Name: (Chairman) Date:

Signature:	Signature:
Name:	Name:
(Member)	(Member)
Date:	Date:

Approved for the University of Committee for graduate studies

Signature:

Name: Assist. Prof. Dr. Monther Faisal Mehdi

Dean of College of Pharmacy / Al- Mustansiriyah University. Date:

بشم الله الرَّحْمَنِ الرَّحِيمِ

(حَالُوا سُبْحَاتِكَ لا عِلْمَ لَيَا إِلَّا مَا المُعْبَدًا إِنَّ أَنْهُ الْعَلَيْمُ الْحَدَيْ

حَدَقَ الله العليُ العَظِيمُ

سورة البقره / ألآية 32

Dedication

The words at my command are inadequate both in form and spirit to express my deep felt appreciation and sincerity towards my family members for their forbearance of my long absence which come in the wake of long hours of working on research. They patiently provided all the support when I needed for renewal and encouragement.

Especially my Mother, my Father, my Wife and my lovely Children (Rahaf and Mohammed hassan). With full respect and love

Ibrahim

Acknowledgement

First of all great thanks **to my God** for granting me the will and strengthen me for accomplishing this research.

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisors **Professor Dr. Mustafa Ghazi Al-Abbasi and Dr. Mustafa Mohammed Al-Obeidy** for their valuable suggestions, supports and encouragement for successful completion of this work and the expression of love and respect in preparing me for the future.

I am indebted to the College of Pharmacy, The University of Mustansiriyah, especially for the Dean *Assistant Prof. Dr. Monther Faisal Mehdi*, for his continually supporting the postgraduate students. Also, my sincere appreciation to *Dr. Inam Sameh Arif*, Dean Assistant for scientific affairs for her kind and help.

Great thanks to the Department of Human Anatomy, Histology and Embryology, College of Medicine / The University of Mustansiriya especially *Dr. Samh S. Akkila* and *Dr. Ahmed Fakher Hameed* for their input, valuable discussions and accessibility.

Ibrahim H. Nashmee Al-malki

List of Contents

	Contents	Page	
Dedi	cation	Ι	
Ackn	owledgment	II	
List o	of Contents	III - VI	
List o	of Tables	VI - VII	
List o	of Figures	VII - XI	
List o	of Abbreviations	XI - XV	
Abstr	ract	XVI - XVII	
	Chapter One: Introduction	n	
1.1	Sildenafil		1
1.1.1	Mechanisms of cyclic nucleotide-induce	d relaxation	2
1.1.2	Pharmacokinetics		8
1.1.3	Adverse effects of sildenafil		8
1.1.4	Therapeutic effect of sildenafil		9
1.2	Phosphodiesterases		10
1.3	Cyclic Nucleotides and their targets		13
1.3.1	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate Signa	ling	13
1.3.2	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate Signa	ling	15
1.3.3	Crosstalk between cyclic nucleotide sign	naling pathways	17
1.4	Effect of sildenafil on various tissues		18
1.4.1	Effect on kidney tissue		18
1.4.2	Effect on liver tissue		20
1.4.3	Effect on pancreatic tissue		24
1.4.4	Effect on Submandibular Gland		25
1.5	Epidermal growth factor (EGF)		26
1.5.1	Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-Related	Factors	27
1.5.2	Epidermal growth factor Receptor (EGF	R)	27
1.5.3	Common cited effects of epidermal grow	vth factor (EGF)	28

1.6	Glycogen	29
1.7	Interleukin-1β (IL-1β)	32
1.8	Aims of the study	36
	Chapter Two: Materials & Methods	
2.1	Chemicals	37
2.2	Instruments	39
2.3	Animals and study design	41
2.4	Body weight measurements	42
2.5	Blood glucose measurements	42
2.6	Treatment administration	42
2.7	Animal sacrifice	43
2.7.1	Serum sample preparation	43
2.7.2	Organ harvest	43
2.8	Tissue preparation and staining	43
2.8.1	Tissue preparation	43
2.8.2	Tissue staining	46
2.8.2.1	Hematoxylin and eosin staining	46
2.8.2.2	Liver periodic acid schiff (PAS) stain	46
2.8.2.3	Immunohistochemistry staining	48
2.9	Detection of serum rat Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 beta)	53
2.10	Detection of serum total anti-oxidant capacity (TAC)	53
2.11	Detection of serum rat C-peptide level	55
2.12	Statistical analysis	55
Chapter Three: Results		
3.1	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on body	56
	weight	
3.2	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on liver	58
3.2.1	Effect on hepatic glycogen content	58
3.2.2	Effect on liver glycogen phosphorylase (GP) activity	61

3.3	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on	65
	epidermal growth factor (EGF)	
3.3.1	The effect on EGF score in the kidney	65
3.3.2	The effect on EGF score in the pancreas	68
3.3.3	The effect on EGF score in the submandibular gland	71
3.4	Serum marker	74
3.4.1	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on Interleukin-	74
	1 beta (IL-1 β)	
3.4.2	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on total	76
	antioxidant capacity (TAC)	
3.4.3	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on fasting	77
	blood glucose (FBG) and C- peptide	
3.5	Correlations	81
3.5.1	Percent of hepatic glycogen content versus percent of	81
	hepatic glycogen phosphorylase (GP)	
3.5.2	Percent of hepatic glycogen content versus serum C-	82
	peptide	
3.5.3	Serum C-peptide versus interlukin-1beta (IL-1 β)	83
3.5.4	Serum interlukin-1beta (IL-1 β) versus final fasting blood	84
	glucose (FBG)	
	Chapter Four: Discussion	
4	Discussion	85
4.1	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on body	85
	weight	
4.2	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on liver	87
4.2.1	Effect on hepatic glycogen content	87
4.2.2	Effect on liver glycogen phosphorylase (GP) activity	89
4.3	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on	91
	epidermal growth factor (EGF)	
4.4	Serum marker	94

4.4.1	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on Interleukin	94
	1-beta (IL-1 β)	
4.4.2	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on total	96
	antioxidant capacity (TAC)	
4.4.3	Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on serum	99
	fasting blood glucose (FBS) and C- peptide	
4.5	Conclusion	101
4.6	Recommendations	102
References		
	References	103

List of Tables

Table	Title	Page
No.		No.
1-1	Characterisitics of PDE isozymes.	12
1-2	Allosteric activators and inhibitors of glycogen phosphorylase	31
	and glycogen synthase	
2-1	Chemical and solvent.	37
2-2	Periodic Acid Schiff staining (PAS) Kit (500 ml) (Atom	37
	Scientific, UK).	
2-3	The primary immunohistochemical kits.	37
2-4	The Secondary immunohistochemical detection system.	38
2-5	Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 beta) Rat ELISA Kit.	38
2-6	Total Antioxidant Capacity (TAC) Assay kit.	38
2-7	C-peptide roche kit.	38
2-8	Instruments with their suppliers.	39
2-9	Equipments and Software.	40
2-10	The rats in the control group D and treatment groups (A, B &	41
	C).	
3-1	Changes in body weight (gm). Data are expressed as mean±S.D.	57
3-2	Changes in liver glycogen content (area %). Data are expressed	58
	as mean \pm SD.	

3-3	Changes in liver GP content (area %). Data are expressed as	61
	mean \pm SD.	
3-4	Changes in epidermal growth factor (EGF) scores. Data are	65
	expressed as mean \pm S.D.	
3-5	Changes in IL-1 β . Data are expressed as mean±S.D.	75
3-6	Changes in TAC. Data are expressed as mean±S.D.	76
3-7	Changes in FBG & C-peptide. Data are expressed as mean ±	78
	S.D.	
3-8	Correlation of percent of hepatic glycogen content versus	81
	percent of hepatic glycogen phosphorylase (GP).	
3-9	Correlation of hepatic glycogen content versus serum C-peptide.	82
3-10	Correlation of serum C-peptide versus interlukin-1beta.	83
3-11	Correlation of serum interlukin-1beta (IL-1ß) versus final	84
	fasting blood glucose (FBG).	

List of Figures

Figure	Title	Page
No.		No.
1-1	The structural formula of Sildenafil citrate.	1
1-2	Nitric oxide and cyclic GMP signaling in smooth muscle cells.	3
1-3	Mechanisms involved in the reduction of cytosolic Ca^{2+}	4
	concentration induced by cyclic nucleotides and their dependent	
	protein kinases.	
1-4	Modulation of K ⁺ channels by cyclic nucleotide-dependent	6
	protein kinases in smooth muscle (SM).	
1-5	Role of myosin light chain twenty (MLC20) in the regulation of	7
	the contractile state in smooth muscle (SM).	
1-6	Degradation of cyclic nucleotides by PDEs.	11
1-7	Generalized illustrations of cyclic nucleotide (cNT) signaling	16
	(A); cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) signaling (B); and	
	cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) (C).	
1-8	The protective effects of NO in liver I/R injury.	20
1-9	A summary of the main mechanisms involved in NO-mediated	22
	protection against liver I/R injury.	

1-10	Regulation of glycogen metabolism and role of PDE enzymes in	33
	controlling this processes	
2-1	Tissue processing machines.	44
2-2	Selection (A) & subtraction (B) of central vein and interlobular	48
	vascular spaces followed by selection (C) and calculation of	
	surface area (D) of area of interest (PAS positive signal of hepatic	
	glycogen) using adobe Photoshop software.	
2-3	Scaling & RGB stacking of images (A) followed by selection &	52
	inversion of areas of interest (B) and finally calculating the	
	numbers & surface area (C) using Image J software.	
2-4	Micro wells plate after adding stop solution.	54
3-1	The difference in the body weight before and after sildenafil	57
	treatment in all groups.	
3-2	The percent of changes (increase and decrease) in body weight	58
	among all groups.	
3-3	Microphotograph of periodic acid-schiff (PAS) staining of rat	59
	liver of control group showing glycogen content of hepatocyte.	
	X400.	
3-4	Microphotograph of periodic acid-schiff (PAS) staining of rat	60
	liver of group A after 0.5 mg sildenafil treatment showing	
	increasing in glycogen content of hepatocyte. X400.	
3-5	Microphotograph of periodic acid-schiff (PAS) staining of rat	60
	liver of group B after 1 mg sildenafil treatment showing	
	increasing in glycogen content of hepatocyte. X400.	
3-6	Microphotograph of periodic acid-schiff (PAS) staining of rat	61
	liver of group C after 2 mg sildenafil treatment showing	
	increasing in glycogen content of hepatocyte. X400.	
3-7	Microphotograph of Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	62
	Glycogen phosphorylase in liver of control group show diffuse	
2.0	reactivity of nepatocyte cytoplasm against GP. X400.	(2)
3-8	Nicrophotograph of Immunonistochemical (IHC) staining of	63
	liver GP in group A after 0.5mg of sildenafil treatment, showing	
	cytoplasmic reaction of nepatocyte against GP less than control x_{400}	
	group. A400.	

3-9	Microphotograph of Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	63
	liver GP in group B after 1 mg of sildenafil treatment, showing	
	cytoplasmic reaction of hepatocyte against GP less than control	
	group. X400.	
3-10	Microphotograph of Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	64
	liver GP in group C after 2 mg of sildenafil treatment, showing	
	cytoplasmic reaction of hepatocyte against GP less than group A	
	and B. X400.	
3-11	The changes in glycogen content and glycogen phosphorylase of	64
	the liver after sildenafil treatment in all groups.	
3-12	EGF changes in kidney after sildenafil treatment in all groups.	66
3-13	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	66
	Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of control	
	group showing reactivity against EGF. X400.	
3-14	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	67
	Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of group A	
	after 0.5 mg sildenafil treatment: showing increase reactivity	
	against EGF.X400.	
3-15	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	67
	Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of group B	
	after 1mg sildenafil treatment: showing increase reactivity against	
	EGF.X400.	
3-16	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	68
	Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of group C	
	after 2 mg sildenafil treatment: showing increase reactivity	
	against EGF. X400.	
3-17	Changes of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas after	69
2.10	sildenafil treatment in all groups.	
3-18	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	69
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans)	
2.10	of group D: showing few reactivity against EGF.X400.	70
3-19	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	70
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans)	
	of group A after 0.5mg sildenafil treatment: showing increase	
	reactivity against EGF.X400.	

3.20	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	70
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans)	
	of group B after 1mg sildenafil treatment: showing increase	
	reactivity against EGF.X400.	
3-21	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	71
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans)	
	of group C after 2mg sildenafil treatment: showing increase	
	reactivity against EGF.X400.	
3-22	Changes of EGF in submandibular after sildenafil treatment in all	72
	groups.	
3-23	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	72
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group	
	D: showing few reactivity against EGF.X400.	
3-24	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	73
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group	
	A after 0.5mg sildenafil treatment: showing increase reactivity	
	against EGF.X400.	
3-25	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	73
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group	
	B after Img sildenafil treatment: showing increase reactivity	
	against EGF.X400.	
3-26	Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of	74
	epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group	
	C after 2 mg sildenafil treatment: snowing increase reactivity	
2.27	against EGF. A400.	75
3-27	The amount of IL -1p in an groups after sindenant treatment.	73 77
3-28	after sildenefil treatment	//
3 20	Changes in EBG before and after sildenafil treatment in all	70
5-29	groups	13
3_30	Changes in the level of FBG in all group before and after	79
5-50	sildenafil treatment	1)
3-31	The level of C-peptide after sildenafil treatment in all groups	80
3_32	Linear graph shows inverse correlation between hepatic glycogen	81
0.04	content and hepatic GP.	01
	content une nepute or .	

3-33	Linear graph shows direct correlation between hepatic glycogen	82
	content and serum C-peptide.	
3-34	Linear graph shows inverse correlation between serum C-peptide	83
	versus interlukin-1beta.	
3-35	Linear graph shows moderate inverse correlation between FBS	84
	and C-peptide.	
4-1	Proposed mechanism underlying the antioxidant effect of	98
	sildenafil.	

ACs	Adenylyl cyclases.			
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate			
Akt	Serine/threonine-specific protein kinase.			
p-Akt	Phospho-Serine/threonine-specific protein kinase.			
ÂMPK	Adenosine monophosphate -activated protein kinase			
ANP	Atrial natriuretic peptide.			
AP-1	Activator Protein-1.			
AR	Amphiregulin.			
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate			
BAY	2-[(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)methyl]-7-[(2R,3R)-2-hydroxy-6			
60-7550	phenylhexan-3-yl]-5-methyl-1H-			
	imidazo[5,1f][1,2,4]triazin-4 one.			
BAY	1-(2-chlorophenyl)-6-[($2R$)-3, 3, 3-trifluoro-2-			
73-6691	methylpropyl]-1, 5-dihydro-4 <i>H</i> -pyrazolo [3, 4- <i>d</i>]			
	pyrimidine-4-one.			
\mathbf{BH}_4	Tetrahydrobiopterin			
BK channels	Ca ²⁺ -activated K ⁺ channels			
BRL 50481	3-(N,N-dimethylsulfonamido)-4-methyl-nitrobenzene			
BTC	Betacellulin			
CaM	Calmodulin			
CAMs	Cell adhesion molecules			
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate			
ССК	Cholecystokinin			

List of Abbreviations

cDNA	Complementary DNA			
C domain	C-terminal catalytic domain			
c-Fos	Proto-oncogene			
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate			
CNG	Cyclic nucleotide gated			
cNT	Cyclic nucleotide			
CN -V	Fifth cranial nerve			
CREB	Cyclic Adenosine monophosphate -response element binding protein			
Cripto-1	Teratocarcinoma-derived growth factor			
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor			
DPX	Digital picture exchange			
EBV	Epstein–Barr virus			
ED	Erectile dysfunction			
EGF	Epidermal growth factor			
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor			
EHNA	Erythro-9-(2-hydroxy-3-nonyl)adenine			
ELK-1	E26 transformation-specific domain-containing protein			
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase			
Epac	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate - responsive rap1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor			
EPR	Epiregulin			
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum			
ErbB	Receptor tyrosine kinase family			
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase			
ETS	E-twenty six (family transcription factors)			
FBG	Fasting blood glucose			
Fig.	Figure			
GAB-1	Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 -associated-binding protein-1			
GC	Guanylyl cyclase			
GCT	Granular convoluted tubule			
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor			
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate			
GP	Glycogen phosphorylase			

GPCR	guanine nucleotide-binding protein coupled receptor		
GS	Glycogen synthase		
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate		
GTPCH-I	Guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase I		
5'-GMP	Guanosine 5'-monophosphate		
G6P	Glucose-6-phosphate		
HB-EGF	Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor		
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus		
HCN	Hyperpolarization-activated cyclic nucleotide gated		
HER	Human epidermal growth factor receptor		
H&E	Hematoxylin and eosin stain		
ICAM-1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1		
IHC	Immunohistochemistry		
IHR	Intrahepatic resistance		
IL-1β	Interleukin 1-beta		
IL-18	Interleukin-18		
Ins (1,4,5) P3	Inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate		
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase		
I/R	Ischemic / reperfusion		
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate		
[Na+]i	Intracellular sodium		
IP3R	Inositol trisphosphate receptor		
JAK	Janus kinase		
JNK	c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase		
K ATP channels	ATP - sensitive K ⁺ channels		
kDa	Kilodalton		
K _{ir} channels	Inward rectifier K ⁺ channels		
K _v channels	Voltage-gated K ⁺ channels		
LGC	Liver glycogen content		
LMP1	Latent membrane protein 1		
LPS	Lipopoly-saccharide		
LTCC	L-type Ca ²⁺ currents channel		
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein		
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase		

MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1		
mitoKATP	Mitochondrial ATP-dependent K+ channel		
MLC	Myosin light chain		
MLCK	Myosin light chain kinase		
MLCP	Myosin light chain phosphatase		
MLC20	Myosin light chain 20		
μm	Micrometer		
MPO	Myeloperoxidase		
MPT	Mitochondrial permeability transition		
MRP	Multidrug resistance proteins		
MSNA	Muscle sympathetic nerve activity		
Na+	Sodium		
ANP	Atrial natriuretic peptide		
NPRA	Natriuretic peptide receptor type A		
NADPH	Reduced Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate		
NCX	Na ⁺ /Ca ²⁺ exchanger		
NHCT	Na ⁺ /HCO3 ⁻ cotransporter		
NHE	Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchanger		
Neu	Neuregulins		
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa B		
NO	Nitric oxide		
NO-cGMP	Nitric oxide- Cyclic guanosine monophosphate		
NRG1-4	Neuregulins 1–4		
NTP	Nucleotide triphosphate precursor		
O 2 ^{•-}	Superoxide anion		
ONOO'-	Peroxynitrite		
PAS	Periodic acid-schiff stain		
PDE	Phosphodiesterase		
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor		
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase		
PIP2	Phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-bisphosphate		
РКВ	Protein kinase B		
PKG	Protein kinases G		
PLC	Phospholipase C		

PLC yl	Phospholipase C-yl		
PMCA	Plasma Membrane Ca ²⁺ -ATPase		
p38 MAPK	P38 mitogen-activated protein kinases		
PP-1	Phosphoprotein phosphatase-1		
PVP	Portal vein pressure		
PYG	Phosphorylase glycogen gene		
PYGB	Phosphorylase glycogen brain		
PYGL	Phosphorylase glycogen liver		
PYGM	Phosphorylase glycogen muscle		
Raf-1	Proto-oncogene, serine / threonine kinase		
R domain	N-terminal regulatory domain		
RBF	Renal blood flow		
RhoA	Ras homolog gene family, member A		
ROCK	Rho-associated coiled kinase		
ROS	Reactive oxygen species		
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus		
sGC	Soluble guanylyl cyclase		
SMC	Smooth muscle cells		
SOD	Superoxide dismutase		
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum		
TAC	Total antioxidant capacity		
S.c.	Subcutaneous		
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription family of transcription factors.		
TGF	Transforming growth factor		
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor - beta		
ΤΝΓα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha		
UDP	Uridine diphosphate		
UTP	Uridine-5'-triphosphate		
V-ATPase	Vacuolar H ⁺ -ATPase		
VASP	Vasoactivator stimulated phosphoprotein		

Abstract

Background: Sildenafil a selective phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5) inhibitor, elevates cyclic nucleotide intracellular second messengers which contribute in several intracellular signaling pathways involved in physiological and pathological situation. Epidermal growth factor is produced in rodents mainly by the submandibular glands and kidney, it is important in β -cell development. Glycogen phosphorylase is the key enzyme of glycogen breakdown that catalyzes the degradative phosphorolysis of glycogen. In the liver, glycogen phosphorylase has important role in blood glucose homeostasis. Interleukin 1-beta is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that plays important roles in inflammation. Interleukin 1-beta signal influence insulin action and insulin secretion.

Objective: To investigate the histological and immunochemical effects of sildenafil citrate on kidney, liver, pancreas and submandibular gland of adult male rats.

Materials and Methods: Forty eight adult male rats were divided into four equal groups. Group D: as control. Group A, B and C: rats were treated with (0.5, 1, and 2) mg/kg oral sildenafil citrate respectively (once daily by gastric tube). Animals were euthanized after 6 weeks of treatment. Kidney, liver, pancreas and submandibular glands were processed for histological and immunohistochemical examination. Blood was collected for serum examination of Interleukin 1-beta (IL- 1β), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and C-peptide. Body weight and blood glucose recorded before treatment and at last day of experiment.

Results: There was a high significant decrease in body weight after the oral dose of sildenafil (0.5, 1, 2 mg/kg) when compared with initial body weight for each animal in all groups. High significant elevation (p<0.01) was observed with liver

glycogen content in group A, B, C when compared to group D. Interestingly, sildenafil was reduced hepatic glycogen phosphorylase significantly in group B and high significantly in group C when compared with group D. After sildenafil treatment, immunohistochemical detection for epidermal growth factor (EGF) revealed increased number of immunopositive cells and strong immunoreactivity for epidermal growth factor (EGF) of kidney and submandibular compared with the control group. Strong immunoreactivity for the epidermal growth factor (EGF) expressed on its receptor was detected in the β -cell. Sildenafil markedly increased serum total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and reduced serum IL-1 β . Serum C-peptide levels showed a high significant elevation (p< 0.01) in group C when compared with control and significant elevation when compared with other treatment group. In addition, blood glucose level was significantly reduced (p<0.05) in group A and high significant reduction was observed in group B and C when compared with initial glucose level related to each group.

Conclusion: Sildenafil has a potential role in elevating the epidermal growth factor (EGF) production which improve the synthesis of insulin in β -cells which subsequently lowers the blood glucose concentration and reduces hepatic glycogenolysis.

Chapter One

Introduction

1.1 Sildenafil:

Sildenafil citrate is an orally active selective inhibitor of cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP)-specific PDE5 (phosphodiesterase type 5) which is the predominant PDE isoenzyme in human corpora cavernosa. The empirical formula for sildenafil citrate is C28H38N6O11S with a molecular weight of 666.7 g/mol, white to off-white crystalline powder with a solubility of 3.5 mg/mL in water ⁽¹⁾. Sildenafil citrate has the following structural formula (fig. 1-1).



Figure (1-1) ⁽¹⁾: The structural formula of sildenafil citrate.

Sildenafil citrate, a vasoactive agent was approved as a drug for treating male erectile dysfunction (ED) by the US Food and Drug Administration on 27 March 1998 ⁽²⁾. It restores impaired erectile function by increasing blood flow to the penis, resulting in a natural response to sexual stimulation. The erection physiological mechanism of the penis involves the discharge of nitric oxide (NO) in the corpus cavernosum through sexual stimulation. The activation of the guanylate cyclase by nitric oxide, which results in increased levels of cGMP, producing smooth muscle relaxation in the corpus cavernosum and allowing inflow of blood ⁽³⁾. Sildenafil binds to the catalytic site of PDE5 and inhibits the degradation of intracellular cGMP in smooth muscle within the corpus cavernosum, resulting in increased levels of cGMP that causes smooth muscle cell relaxation, vasodilation, and improves

erectile function ⁽⁴⁾. Cyclic GMP Intracellular receptors include cyclic nucleotidegated channels, cGMP-dependent protein kinases (PKG), and cGMP-binding PDEs; cGMP may also cross-activate cAMP pathways by binding to cAMP-binding sites on cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) receptors such as cAMP-protein kinases A ⁽⁵⁾. Cyclic GMP levels of tissue are determined by a balance between the activities of the guanylyl cyclases that responsible of formation of cGMP from guanosine triphosphate (GTP) and the cyclic nucleotide PDEs that catalyze the breakdown of cGMP (fig. 1-2). The mixture of a stimulator of guanylyl cyclase and a cGMP PDE inhibitor (such as sildenafil) produces synergistic enhancement of tissue cGMP levels ⁽⁶⁾.

1.1.1 Mechanisms of cyclic nucleotide-induced relaxation:

Cyclic adenosine monophosphate and cyclic guanosine monophosphate are main messengers that mediate relaxation under physiological conditions. Three distinct mechanisms are thought to mediate the dilator effect of cyclic nucleotides and their dependent protein kinases ⁽⁷⁾:

(1) The decrease in the cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration (fig. 1-3).

(2) The hyperpolarization of the smooth muscle cells (SMC) membrane potential (fig. 1-4).

(3) The reduction in the sensitivity of the contractile machinery by uncoupling contraction from myosin light chain (MLC) phosphorylation (fig. 1-5).

1- Cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration modulation in the smooth muscle cells (SMC) ⁽⁷⁾: **a**- Decreased Ca²⁺ release from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). **b**- Increased Ca²⁺-sequestration into the ER. **c**- Decreased influx of extracellular Ca²⁺. **d**-Increased efflux of intracellular Ca²⁺ through the plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase (PMCA). **e**- Increased efflux of intracellular calcium through stimulation of the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ -exchanger (NCX).



Figure (1-2) ⁽⁶⁾: Nitric oxide and cyclic GMP signaling in smooth muscle cells. cGMP: Cyclic guanosine monophosphate; ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; ADP: Adenosine diphosphate; GTP: Guanosine triphosphate; 5'-GMP: Guanosine 5'-monophosphate.



Figure (1-3) ⁽⁷⁾: Mechanisms involved in the reduction of cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration induced by cyclic nucleotides and their dependent protein kinases. Green arrows imply stimulation, and red arrows imply inhibition. IP3R: Inositol trisphosphate receptor; LTCC: L-type Ca^{2+} currents; NCX: Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger; PIP2: Phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-bisphosphate; PLC: Phospholipase C; PMCA: Plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase; SR: Sarcoplasmic reticulum.

2- Hyperpolarization of the smooth muscle cells (SMC)⁽⁷⁾:

a- Voltage-gated K⁺ channels (K_v channels).

b- Large conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels (BK channels).

c- ATP - sensitive K⁺ channels (K_{ATP} channels).

d- Inward rectifier K⁺ channels (K_{ir} channels).

3- Decrease in myosin light chain 20 (MLC20) phosphorylation:

Myosin light chain phosphorylation promotes the contraction of the SMC, and conversely a decrease in MLC20 phosphorylation promotes its relaxation, this occur through ⁽⁸⁾:

a- Inhibition of MLCK activity:

The activity of myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) is primarily mediated by the Ca²⁺ / CaM complex. Elevation of cAMP levels inhibits phosphorylation of MLCK through a PKA-dependent pathway. This decreases the affinity of MLCK for the Ca²⁺/CaM complex and thereby reduces myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity. There is no direct evidence for PKG-dependent phosphorylation of MLCK. However, cross-activation of PKA by cGMP is reported to participate in inhibition of MLCK activity, and subsequent vasodilation ⁽⁸⁾.

b- Increase in myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP) activity:

Multiple of evidences show that PKG could activate MLCP, thereby decreasing MLC20 phosphorylation and SMC contraction ⁽⁸⁾. It has also been reported that cGMP -induced inhibition of Ca²⁺ sensitization can be directly mediated by Ras homolog gene family, member A / Rho-associated coiled kinase (RhoA / ROCK) pathway. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate - responsive rap1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor (Epac) has been proposed to mediate the relaxation induced by cAMP in several smooth muscles through down-regulation of RhoA ⁽⁹⁾.



Figure (1-4) ⁽⁷⁾: Modulation of K⁺ channels by cyclic nucleotide-dependent protein kinases in smooth muscle (SM). Green arrows imply stimulation; red arrows imply inhibition. K_{ATP} channels: ATP - sensitive K+ channels; Kir channels: Inward rectifier K+ channels; Kv channels: Voltage-gated K+ channels; ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; PKG: Protein kinases G; BK_{Ca} channels: Ca2+-activated K+ channels.



Figure (1-5) ⁽⁷⁾**: Role of myosin light chain twenty (MLC20) in the regulation of the contractile state in smooth muscle (SM).** PKA: protein kinase-A; PKG: cGMP-dependent protein kinase; MLCP: myosin light chain phosphatase; MLCK: myosin light chain kinase; ROCK: Rho-associated protein kinase; P-MLC20: phosphorylated myosin regulatory light chain twenty; Epac: cAMP - responsive rap1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor; RhoA: Ras homolog gene family, member A; Ca²⁺/Calmodulin protein kinase II; P refer to phosphorylation.

1.1.2 Pharmacokinetics:

Sildenafil is rapidly absorbed after oral administration. Maximum observed plasma concentrations are reached within 30 to 120 minutes (median 60 minutes) of oral dosing in the fasted state. The mean absolute oral bioavailability is 41% (range 25-63%). In clinical trials, single oral doses of sildenafil between 25 and 100 mg have been shown to be effective in the treatment of erectile dysfunction of organic, psychogenic or mixed etiologies. When sildenafil film-coated tablets are taken with a high fat meal, the rate of absorption of sildenafil is reduced with a mean delay in T_{max} of 60 minutes and a mean reduction in C_{max} of 29%. Patients may need to individualize their dosing relative to their food intake based on their own experienced clinical response ⁽¹⁰⁾. Sildenafil is cleared predominantly by the cytochrome P450 3A4 (major route) and cytochrome P450 2C9 (minor route) hepatic microsomal isoenzymes. The major circulating metabolite results from Ndemethylation of sildenafil. This metabolite has a PDE selectivity profile similar to sildenafil and an *in-vitro* potency for PDE5 approximately 50% of the parent drug. Plasma concentrations of this metabolite are approximately 40% of those seen for sildenafil. The N-desmethyl metabolite is further metabolised with a terminal halflife of approximately 4 hours ⁽¹¹⁾. After oral administration, sildenafil was excreted as metabolites predominantly in the faeces (approximately 80% of administered oral dose) to a lesser extent in the urine (approximately 13% of administered oral dose), where sildenafil half-life is 3-5 hours⁽¹²⁾.

1.1.3 Adverse effects of sildenafil:

The most common adverse effects of sildenafil use included headache, flushing, indigestion, nasal congestion, and impaired vision, including photophobia and blurred vision (mild and transient predominantly colour tinge to vision, but also increased perception to light or blurred vision), also there is evidence that sildenafil usage linked with nonarteritic anterior ischemic optic neuropathy ⁽¹³⁾. Rare but

serious adverse effects found through post-marketing surveillance include prolonged erections, severe low blood pressure, myocardial infarction (heart attack), ventricular arrhythmias, stroke, increased intraocular pressure, and sudden hearing loss ⁽¹⁴⁾.

1.1.4 Therapeutic effect of sildenafil:

Sildenafil is a selective inhibitor of phosphodiesterase type 5 (PDE5). Inhibition of PDE5 enhances the vasodilator effects of nitric oxide in pulmonary hypertension by preventing the degradation of cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), which promotes relaxation of vascular smooth muscle and increases blood flow. It has been found to produce selective reduction in pulmonary artery pressure without adverse systemic hemodynamic effects ⁽¹⁵⁾. In addition, cyclic nucleotides play a prominent role in the regulation of cellular functions and PDE inhibition can therefore elicit a variety of effects ⁽¹⁶⁾. The pharmacologic actions of PDE inhibitors (PDEIs) are due to their potential to increase intracellular cAMP and cGMP as intracellular signal messengers that modulate both the intensity and the nature of immediate and delayed cellular responses. Cyclic GMP has emerged recently as a principal focus in signal transduction. Additionally, the conventional regulatory roles ascribed to cGMP such as stimulation of smooth muscle relaxation, inhibition of platelet aggregation, neutrophil degranulation, and initiation of visual signal transduction, numerous other physiological roles have recently been uncovered ⁽¹⁷⁾. Sildenafil has been reported to provide cardioprotection against ischemic injury when infused at the onset of reperfusion in rabbits. Recently, another study have shown that, in addition to treating erectile dysfunction, sildenafil can prevent or decrease tissue injury. In vivo and in vitro, early treatment with sildenafil ameliorated the progression of renal damage in the "5/6 nephrectomy" model, and sildenafil was found to reduce cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats ⁽¹⁸⁾. In vitro studies sildenafil was shown to potentiate the antiaggregatory effect of the nitric oxide donor, sodium nitroprusside ⁽¹⁹⁾. Studies in animals and humans have demonstrated an impact of PDE5 inhibitors upon glucose metabolism but the reports are controversial. There is evidence that liver is one of the organs that well responds to PDE inhibitors by influencing glucose output ⁽²⁰⁾.

1.2 Phosphodiesterases:

Phosphodiesterases are a large family of enzymes that specifically hydrolyse the second messengers (cAMP and / or cGMP) into their inactive forms, the non-cyclic nucleotides 5'-AMP and 5'GMP, respectively as shown in (Fig.1-6)⁽²¹⁾. There are 11 families of PDE enzymes (PDE1-PDE11) which are recognized by substrate specificity, kinetic characteristics and amino acid sequence, each with a different tissue distribution as shown in table (1-1). All of them have an N-terminal regulatory domain (R domain) and a C-terminal catalytic domain (C domain). Some PDEs are highly specific for hydrolysis of cAMP (PDEs 4, 7, and 8) or cGMP (PDEs 5, 6 and 9), while others hydrolyze both cAMP and cGMP ⁽²²⁾.



Figure (1-6) ⁽²¹⁾: Degradation of cyclic nucleotides by PDEs.

	Tuble (1-1). Characteristics of 1 DL isozymes				
			Specific		
PDEs	Substrate	Property	inhibitors	Tissue expression	
PDE1	cAMP/cG	Ca ^{2+/} calmodulin	KS-505a	Heart, brain, lung,	
	MP	-stimulated	IC 86340	smooth muscle	
PDE2	cAMP/cG	cGMP-	EHNA BAY	Adrenal gland, heart,	
	MP	stimulated	60-7550	lung, liver, platelets	
PDE3	cAMP/cG	cGMP-inhibited,	Cilostamide,	Heart, lung, liver,	
	MP	cAMP-selective	enoxamone,	platelets, adipose tissue,	
			milrinone	inflammatory cells	
PDE4	cAMP	cAMP-specific	Rolipram,	Sertoli cells, kidney,	
		cGMP-insensitive	roflumilast,	brain, liver, lung,	
			cilomilast	inflammatory cells	
PDE5	cGMP	cGMP-specific	Sildenafil,	Lung, platelets, vascular	
		PKA/PKG-	tadalafil,	smooth muscle, heart, teste	
		Phosphorylated	vardenafil	brain	
PDE6	cGMP	cGMP-specific	Dipyridamole	Photoreceptor	
PDE7	cAMP	cAMP-specific,	BRL-50481	Skeletal muscle, heart,	
		high-affinity		kidney, brain, pancreas,	
				T lymphocytes	
PDE8	cAMP	cAMP-selective	None	Testes, eye, liver, skeletal	
				muscle, heart, kidney, ovary	
				brain, T lymphocytes	
PDE9	cGMP	cGMP-specific	BAY 73-6691	Kidney, liver, lung,	
				brain, heart	
PDE10	cAMP/cG	cAMP-selective	None	Testes, brain	
	MP				
PDE11	cAMP/cG	cGMP-sensitive,	None	Skeletal muscle, prostate,	
	MP	dual specificity		kidney, liver, pituitary	
				and salivary glands, testes	

Table (1-1):	Characteristics	of PDE	isozymes	(23, 24)
---------------------	------------------------	--------	----------	----------

1.3 Cyclic nucleotides and their targets:

The cyclic nucleotides, cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), have long been recognized as important intracellular signal transduction molecules, acting as second messengers between an extracellular signal such as a hormone, neurotransmitter, or cytokine and the elicited intracellular response. While the specific function of a given signal varies according to the cell type, extracellular environment, stimulus activating the signal, localization of the signal, and the type of cyclic nucleotide formed, an extracellular signal will generally activate a cyclase enzyme, which catalyzes the formation of the cyclic nucleotide from its nucleotide triphosphate precursor (NTP) ⁽²⁵⁾. Once formed, the cyclic nucleotide will affect the activity of downstream effector molecules including kinases, ion channels, transcription factors, and scaffolding proteins. Both the amplitude and duration of a cyclic nucleotide signal also varies and is largely dependent on the expression and activity levels of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (PDE) enzymes, which catalyze the hydrolytic breakdown of cyclic nucleotides ⁽²⁵⁾.

1.3.1 Cyclic adenosine monophosphate Signaling:

The balance of cAMP signaling is essential to multiple cellular processes, including immune function, growth, differentiation, gene expression and metabolism. The intracellular level of the second messenger, cAMP, is regulated by ⁽²⁶⁾:

1- Opposite activities of two enzymes, adenylyl cyclase (ACs) and PDEs. Both ACs and PDEs are regulated by numerous signaling pathways including, calcium signaling through calmodulin (CaM) and calcineurin, G-proteins, inositol lipids (e.g., PKC) and receptor tyrosine kinases ⁽²⁶⁾. Concentrations of cAMP can be regulated by processes throughout the whole cell and within membrane regions by multidrug resistance proteins (MRP4, MRP5) which have demonstrated an energy

dependent export of cyclic nucleotide (cNT), MRP4 promotes the modulation of localized membrane cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) concentrations which are coupled to G protein coupled receptor (GPCR)-mediated events, MRP4 forms macromolecular complexes in specialized subcellular domains; while, MRP5 can efflux both cGMP and cAMP, thus reducing their intracellular availability; therefore both MRP4 and MRP5 regulating cNT levels when there is an overproduction of cNTs or inhibited PDE activity (Fig.1-7)⁽²⁶⁾.

2- The regulation of cAMP levels can be inhibited by GPCR subunits which modulate the activity of adenylyl cyclase (ACs) in some cell types and cAMPdependent serine/threonine protein kinase (PKA) activity can act as a negative regulator of cAMP signaling by phosphorylating and inactivating ACs (27), the amplitude and duration of a cAMP signal within most cells is largely dependent on phosphodiesterase (PDE) enzyme activity, which is responsible for hydrolyzing cAMP to 5'AMP in order to terminate its signal ⁽²⁸⁾. Despite relatively equal levels of AC, cAMP and PDE expression in most cell types, the rate of cAMP hydrolysis in virtually all human tissues far exceeds the rate of synthesis, making PDE enzymes an important determinant of intracellular cAMP levels, which, under basal conditions, are typically less than 5 picomol/mg of protein⁽²⁹⁾. Intracellular receptors for cAMP include the guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) exchange protein activated by cAMP-responsive rap1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor (Epac), ion channels such as the cyclic nucleotide gated (CNG) channels and the hyperpolarization-activated cyclic nucleotide gated (HCN) channels, and PKA, Epac, a GEF, that activates the small G protein Rap1 in order to mediate cell adhesion, junction formation, and secretion, Epac can mediate cAMP anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic signaling through a PKA-independent mechanism in a cell-type specific manner ⁽³⁰⁾. Protein kinase A phosphorylates metabolic enzymes to mediate glucose metabolism and the transcription factor cAMP-response element binding
protein (CREB) to promote gene transcription. The transcription factor cAMPresponse element binding protein is a 43 kDa basic / leucine zipper transcription factor that is highly conserved and expressed in most tissue types. The activation of CREB is not PKA specific, CREB phosphorylation can be stimulated by multiple kinases including Akt, pp90 ribosomal S6 kinase (p90Rsk), and calcium/calmodulin dependent kinases. The transcription factor cAMP-response element binding protein regulates a multitude of genes and can be overexpressed and constitutively activated in many cancer types. The transcription factor cAMP-response element binding protein regulates the expression of several genes involved in metabolism, signaling, proliferation, differentiation and survival ⁽³¹⁾.

1.3.2 Cyclic guanosine monophosphate Signaling:

Similar to cAMP, cGMP levels are predominantly controlled by degradation via PDE enzymes. Phosphodiesterase type 5 is the isoform predominantly responsible for cGMP hydrolysis and subsequent termination of a cGMP signal. The regulation of PDE activity is unique to cGMP signaling and serves multiple functions within cells such as acting as negative feedback for cGMP signaling by activating cGMP specific PDE5 or acting as crosstalk between cyclic nucleotide pathways by increasing or decreasing the activity of non-selective PDE isozymes such as PDE2 or PDE3, respectively ⁽³²⁾. Some guanylyl cyclase (GC) isoforms serve as substrates for phosphorylation by PKG resulting in decreased catalysis and, therefore, decreased formation of cGMP. However, similar to cAMP signaling, the specific effect of a cGMP signal depends largely on the receptors that is activated. Under standard physiological concentrations, which for cGMP are typically tenfold less than those observed for cAMP, cGMP preferentially activates receptors distinctly different than those activated by cAMP, including certain PDE isozymes, PKG, and cyclic nucleotide gated (CNG) ion channels ⁽³³⁾.



Figure (1-7) ⁽²⁶⁾: Generalized illustrations of cyclic nucleotide (cNT) signaling (A); cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) signaling (B); and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) (C). A, demonstrates cyclic nucleotide (cNT) production through nucleotide precursor (NTP) and activation of selective cyclase and activation receptor and intracellular response or degradation of cNT through phosphodiesterase (PDE) activity. B, production of cAMP by adenylyl cyclase (AC) can be regulated by GPCR and PKA. cAMP signaling can lead to the activation of PKA, Epac and ion channels. Cyclic AMP can also be degraded by PDEs (PDE1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 10, or 11) and cGMP can inhibit selective PDE cAMP degrading activity. C, production of cGMP by guanylyl cyclase (GC) can be regulated by nitric oxide (NO) and PKG. cGMP signaling can lead to the regulation of other PDEs, PKG and ion channels. Cyclic GMP can also be degraded by PDEs (PDE1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, 10, or 11).

Modulation of cyclic nucleotide gated channel activity is a more common event in cGMP signaling compared to cAMP signaling and serves as an important step for mediating the effects of cGMP on phototransduction, natriuresis, and intestinal fluid and electrolyte secretion. Similar to PKA and cAMP signaling, PKG mediates cGMP signaling by modulating down-stream signaling effects. For example, PKG can phosphorylate and activate myosin phosphatase to promote vasodilation and muscle relaxation. A central mediator of cGMP signaling is PKG, which activated by cGMP binding and phosphorylates down-stream substrates. PKG is a serine/threonine protein kinase which is highly versatile and plays a diverse role in regulating multiple cellular processes (i.e., vasodilation, cell differentiation, cell proliferation and apoptosis)⁽³⁴⁾.

1.3.3 Crosstalk between cyclic nucleotide signaling pathways:

An additional level of complexity arises when considering the crosstalk between cAMP and cGMP signaling pathways. The most notable source of crosstalk between the pathways is found in the ability of cGMP to modulate the activity of various PDEs, particularly PDE2 and PDE3, which can hydrolyze both cAMP and cGMP, but have higher affinity for cAMP ⁽³⁵⁾. For example, low nanomolar concentrations of cGMP are sufficient to produce more than a tenfold increase in cAMP hydrolysis by PDE2 and all but complete inhibition of cAMP hydrolysis by PDE3. In fact, it is thought that the effects of atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) on aldosterone secretion are at least partially due to a drop in cAMP levels that is mediated by cGMP signaling following the activation of PDE2 ⁽³⁵⁾.

Phosphorylation events mediated by PKA and PKG serve as another source of crosstalk between the pathways. Both kinases share a number of substrates allowing for specific downstream events to be mediated by both cAMP and cGMP signaling. For example, vasoactivator stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP) is preferentially phosphorylated at its serine 157 residue by PKA and its serine 239 residue by PKG

in order to modulate focal adhesions, cell shape, or platelet aggregation in response to a number of stimuli. PKA and PKG predominantly activated by their respective cyclic nucleotides, while in some instances, be activated by the alternate cyclic nucleotide. For instance, high levels of cAMP have been found to activate PKG *in vitro* in the absence of cGMP, but the validity of this effect is questionable as it has not been observed in intact cells or under physiological conditions ⁽³⁶⁾.

1.4 Effect of sildenafil on various tissues:

1.4.1 Effect on kidney tissue:

The kidney is a complex organ with myriad functions, including filtration of the blood; preservation of fluid, electrolyte, and acid-base balance, and regulation of blood pressure. Every day, the two kidneys filter about 120 to 150 quarts of blood to produce about 1 to 2 quarts of urine, composed of wastes and extra fluid that make kidney more susceptible to injury by various insults and pathological condition ^{(37,} $^{38)}$. Sildenafil is a selective inhibitor of phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5), which degrades cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (AMP) to lesser extended, then has a relaxant effect on the smooth muscle cells of the arterioles ⁽³⁹⁾. Several studies have shown that, in addition to treating erectile dysfunction, sildenafil has an ameliorative effect on tissue injury including renal ablation model of kidney damage ⁽⁴⁰⁾. These ameliorative effects indicate that sildenafil has improved both renal blood flow (RBF) and glomerular filtration rate (GFR) which may be attributed to its vasodilation effect of sildenafil. Moreover, sildenafil may preserve tubular integrity through vasodilation effects as well as, via attenuation of inflammation and pro-inflammatory mediators including TNF- α , which explain tubular function maintenance observed upon co-treatment with cisplatin ⁽⁴¹⁾. Furthermore, because of the inflammation is known to induce renal vasoconstriction and to reduce renal blood flow and glomerular filtration rate, prevention of inflammation should result in a better filtration ^(42, 43).

Additional to sildenafil anti-inflammatory effect, it reduces oxidative stress through NO/cGMP pathway (44). Previous study, found that sildenafil has markedly renoprotective effects, attenuating kidney tissue injury, especially in the vascular bed, and decreasing oxidative stress, as confirmed by biochemical assays and histopathological study. This protection is due primarily to the inhibition of oxidative stress and decrease in the level of TNF- α , which is one of the important mechanisms of organ injury. Principal among the reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated by oxidative stress is superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) , which reacts with NO to produce peroxynitrite (ONOO^{•-}), thereby reducing bioavailable NO. A reduction of NO availability promotes not only vasoconstriction but also the adhesion of leukocytes and platelets, which in turn release a vasoconstrictors and cytokines, thereby exacerbating ongoing inflammatory cascades. Adherent neutrophils and monocytes release tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interleukins (ILs), the blood levels of which are markedly elevated $^{(45)}$. In turn, TNF- α and ILs and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) upregulate enzymes that generate O_2 in cultured vascular tissues, in particular, NADPH oxidase. A self-perpetuating inflammatory cascade ensues. sildenafil is a potent inhibitor of O_2^{-} formation in endothelial cells, both acutely and in the longer term. Acutely, this effect is mediated by the direct inhibition of NADPH oxidase activity and in the longer term by suppression of NADPH oxidase expression. This effect is mediated by the cGMP-PKG system and not by the cAMP-PKA axis. So, the NO-cGMP axis plays a role in blocking not only the expression of NADPH oxidase in response to inflammation but also the intrinsic acute activity of the enzyme ⁽⁴⁵⁾. Sildenafil exerts ameliorating effects by decreasing lipid peroxidase and myeloperoxidase activities as markers of lipid peroxidation ⁽⁴⁵⁾. Inflammatory cells, cytokines, and profibrotic growth factors including transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF-

 α), interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-18 (IL-18), and cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) have all been implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy via increased vascular inflammation and fibrosis ⁽⁴⁶⁾. Little attention has been paid to the effect of sildenafil on EGF production by the kidney. The high concentrations of epidermal growth factor (EGF) found in urine in the face of non-detectable levels of EGF in plasma support the hypothesis that EGF in urine was derived from kidney synthesis and secretion. The significant positive correlation between urine creatinine and urine EGF suggests a functional correlation between glomerular filtration and the tubular EGF ⁽⁴⁷⁾.

1.4.2 Effect on liver tissue:

Experimental evidence using various animal models and experimental techniques indicated that NO derived from L-arginine by eNOS activity through cGMP pathway protected hepatocytes and liver endothelial cells from the deleterious effects of ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury ⁽⁴⁸⁾, by the following mechanisms shown in (fig. 1-8) ⁽⁴⁹⁾:



Figure (1-8) ⁽⁴⁹⁾: The protective effects of NO in liver I/R injury.

Previous study has been shown that administration of the phosphodiesterase inhibitor sildenafil, raises cGMP levels, in mice subjected to liver ischemic reperfusion (I/R) and has also been shown to significantly attenuate the I/R injury ⁽⁵⁰⁾. Therefore, attenuating the manifestations of I/R injury by inhibition of cGMP degradation by PDE5 inhibitors that might preserve the cGMP pool, thus promoting the favorable action of NO generated by eNOS that engage the soluble guanylate cyclase/cGMP/PKG pathway, rather than iNOS derived NO which is cytotoxic and exerts PKG-independent proinflammatory effects ⁽⁵¹⁾. cGMP-dependent protein kinase or PKG plays an important role in the downstream pathway of cell protection elicited by NO. Moreover, the protection offered by PKG resulted in the phosphorylation, and activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases (p38 MAPK) and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinases (PI3K) leading to a significant reduction in intracellular [Na⁺] in hypoxic hepatocytes ⁽⁵²⁾. Phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in hepatocytes results in activation of vacuolar H⁺-ATPase (V-ATPase)⁽⁵³⁾, V-ATPase are proton pumps spanning the membranes of various intracellular compartments as well as the plasma membranes of hepatocytes and play an important role in maintaining intracellular pH homeostatsis and correction of intracellular acidosis results from hepatic ischemia ⁽⁵⁴⁾. The activation of PI3K in hepatocytes, result in the exocytosis of lysosomes and consequent insertion of lysosomal V-ATPases into the plasma membrane ⁽⁵⁵⁾. Therefore, through activation of two separate signalling molecules (p38 MAPK and PI3K); the NO-PKG cascade results in not only the activation of V-ATPase pumps but also in an increase in, the number of plasma membrane V-ATPase pumps. Activated PKG has one other consequence, which pertains to the prevention of onset of the mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) in hepatocytes, an effect that averts hepatocellular death ⁽⁵⁶⁾. A summary of the mechanisms through which the NO-PKG pathway exerts its protective actions in liver I/R injury is provided in (fig. 1-9).



Figure (1-9) ⁽⁴⁹⁾: A summary of the main mechanisms involved in NO-mediated protection against liver I/R injury. A schematic representation of a liver cell with NO-mediated protective pathways shown. cGMP: cyclic 3' ,5 guanosine monophosphate ; eNOS: endothelial nitric oxide synthase; GTP: guanosine triphosphate; H⁺: hydrogen ions; HCO3⁻: bicarbonate; iNOS: inducible nitric oxide synthase; MPT: mitochondrial permeability transition; Na⁺: sodium ions; NHCT: Na⁺/HCO3⁻ cotransporter; NHE: Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger; NO: nitric oxide; PI3K: phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PKG: protein kinase G (cGMP-dependent protein kinase); sGC: soluble guanylyl cyclase; V-ATPase: vacuolar H⁺-ATPase.

High-fat feeding-dependent hepatic inflammation and insulin resistance were prevented by daily oral dosing of sildenafil (57), also improves hepatic steatosis and decrease Kupffer cell inflammation by reduces NF-kB signaling in hepatocytes, macrophage and endothelial cells (58). Another authors reported that sildenafil treatment also blocks M1 activation of Kupffer cells induced by high-fat feeding ⁽⁵⁹⁾. Sildenafil decreased expression of intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1 (ICAM-1)mRNA [ICAM-1 is one of the adhesion molecules that are known to play an important role in the process of leukocyte-endothelial cell interaction] and reduction of leukocyte-endothelial interaction. Additionally, sildenafil may attenuate oxidative aggression-induced tissue injury through hepatocyte and sinusoidal endothelial cell membrane stabilization, also by minimization of intracellular calcium overload and by attenuated myeloperoxidase (MPO) and through improvement of sinusoidal blood flow ⁽⁵¹⁾. In an experimental study, acute incubation of sildenafil increased the vasodilator response to NO in cirrhotic rat livers ⁽⁶⁰⁾. In a human study, acute administration of sildenafil increased hepatic production of NO and cGMP and decreased the hepatic sinusoid resistance in cirrhotic patients ⁽⁶¹⁾. Sildenafil up regulated the hepatic protein expression of eNOS and increased intrahepatic NO production. Additionally, PDE-5 levels of sildenafil treated cirrhotic livers were significantly reduced ⁽⁶²⁾.

Collectively, phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor increases portal flow and lowers portal pressure by a decrease in sinusoidal resistance in healthy individuals and patients with liver cirrhosis ⁽⁶³⁾. The hepatoprotection afforded by sildenafil to a certain extent could be related to hepatoproliferative properties that have been attributed to sildenafil and its downstream signaling pathway. In particular, sildenafil promoted hepatocellular regeneration in a rat model of liver injury caused by chronic ethanol feeding, manifested by a greater mitotic index of liver cells in sildenafil treated rats ⁽⁶⁴⁾. Finally, nitric oxide-Cyclic guanosine monophosphate

(NO-cGMP) signaling pathway could underlie the protective effect of sildenafil against hepatic apoptosis through its mitochondrial ATP-dependent K+ channel (mito-KATP) channel opening properties, as this has already been demonstrated in a rabbit heart model ⁽⁶⁵⁾. The studies in animals and human have demonstrated an impact of PDE5 inhibitors upon glucose metabolism but the reports were controversial. In some studies, cGMP accumulation in the liver cells has been shown to have little effect on glycogenolysis while on the other hand, the inhibition of hepatocyte protein synthesis and gluconeogenesis caused by cytokines and nitric oxide (NO) has been attributed to an increase in cGMP level. There is evidence that liver is one of the organs that well responds to PDE5 inhibitors by influencing glucose output ⁽²⁰⁾.

1.4.3 Effect on pancreatic tissue:

Increased oxidative stress plays a role in the pathogenesis of islets damage and β -cell failure by lipid peroxidation and damages cellular organelles. It results from imbalance between production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species (ROS) ^(66, 67). Many evidences indicate that any increase in intracellular cAMP and cGMP may prevent induction of oxidative stress ⁽⁶⁸⁻⁷²⁾. Specifically, there was good evidence on reduction of diabetes-induced oxidative stress by use of PDEIs in rats ⁽⁶⁾.

Additionally, several agents from herbal sources with marked PDE inhibitor and antioxidant activities have been tested and showed improvement of islets function in diabetes and islet transplantation ⁽⁷³⁾. Therefore, by increasing cyclic nucleotides, PDEIs can overcome oxidative stress ⁽⁶⁷⁾. After previous study has been shown that sildenafil restored diazinon-induced increase in plasma glucose concentration, islets TNF- α and lipid peroxidation on the other hand islets total antioxidant power and plasma insulin would enhanced ⁽⁷⁴⁾. Therefore, phosodiesterase inhibitors increase viability of islets and insulin secretion and decrease formation of ROS ⁽⁶⁾. Additional to direct relation between production of free radicals and damage to islets, there is a relationship between nitric oxide (NO), epidermal growth factor (EGF), oxidative stress and phoso-diesterase inhibitors with β -cell and islets of Langerhans ⁽⁷⁵⁾. Where, there are studies of adult human islets have reported their ability to undergo dedifferentiation, proliferation, and redifferentiation ⁽⁷⁶⁾. Accordingly, interest has been directed toward factors identified as critical to pancreatic organogenesis. Likewise, epidermal growth factor (EGF) ligands contribute to islet development and therefore may represent candidates for modulating the differentiated state of adult human islet cells. In addition fetal pancreatic explants respond to EGF while pharmacologic inhibition of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway, a known mechanism of EGF signaling, elicits an opposite effect ⁽⁷⁷⁾. Individual EGF ligands have differential effects on specified pancreatic endocrine progenitors ⁽⁷⁸⁾. New approaches have used EGF for stimulating β -cell regeneration directly or by EGF stimulated mesenchymal cells. Therefore, it was reasonable for β -cells to recover after increased EGF secretion due to sildenafil antioxidative actions ^(79, 80).

1.4.4 Effect on Submandibular Gland:

The submandibular is the second largest major salivary gland and weighs about 7 grams which is important parts of the gastrointestinal tract with a high implication in health of the whole body ⁽⁸¹⁾. The submandibular polypeptides promote health and well-being in wound healing, mucosal protection, tissue and organ regeneration. Moreover, submandibular gland produces EGF and releases it into the saliva, where it is involved in mucosal repair in the mouth and in the gastrooesophageal tract ⁽⁸²⁾. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) is synthesized by the granular convoluted tubule (GCT) of rodent submandibular glands ⁽⁸³⁾. Previous study has been observed that reduction of submandibular saliva components such as protein and calcium in rat treated with lead acetate, which induces oxidative stress ⁽⁸⁴⁾. It was proved that in diabetic mice, the levels of EGF, its messenger RNA in the submandibular glands and the circulating level were greatly reduced ⁽⁸³⁾. The use of cGMP and cAMP phosodiesterase inhibitors, sildenafil, prevented lead induced increased lipid peroxidation and also protected from decreased thiol groups content and total antioxidant power of the gland. Therefore, sildenafil had a profound effect on rat submandibular gland by its antioxidant activity ⁽⁸⁵⁾. The exocrine function of salivary glands was entirely dependent on autonomic nerves, the question had arisen whether sildenafil might affect the neural regulation of salivary secretion. Indeed the secretion of polypeptides from the granular ducts is predominantly an adrenoreceptor mediated Ca⁺²-dependant event. Whereas sildenafil will augmenting the receptor stimulation by beta-adrenergic agonists, which activates adenylate cyclase via heterotrimeric GTP-binding protein (G protein), which leads to an increase in intracellular cAMP levels. The increased cAMP subsequently activates cAMP-dependent protein kinase, which has been well recognized to be essential for consequent exocytosis. Sildenafil stimulate submandibular secretion of protein, EGF and flow rate of saliva in normal rats ⁽⁸⁶⁾.

1.5 Epidermal growth factor (EGF)

Epidermal growth factor is an acid- and heat-stable 53 amino acid protein originally found in rodents and humans. Epidermal growth factor is a potent mitogenic peptide of molecular weight 4800 that was first isolated from mouse salivary glands by Cohen in 1962 ⁽⁸⁷⁾. When the EGF-complementary DNA (cDNA) was cloned, *in situ* hybridization studies showed that the gene was expressed at high levels in kidney as well as in salivary glands. Besides the salivary gland, detectable levels of EGF were also found in various tissue extracts and body fluids, including amniotic fluid, milk, saliva, gastric and duodenal contents, pancreatic juice, bile, urine and platelet-rich plasma. The discovery of EGF led to its characterization as an embryotrophic factor, it enhances mitogenesis, development, and implantation in different mammalian species. This growth factor has been shown to have various

effects on numerous cellular systems ⁽⁸⁸⁾. The biological and physiological role of EGF during development and in adult animals have opposing actions on processes such as proliferation and apoptosis in many different cell types. These effects have been postulated to be a feature of receptor expression levels, cell surface receptor density, and ligand concentration, all of which can lead to biphasic responses ⁽⁸⁹⁾.

1.5.1 Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-Related Factors:

At least 11 different EGF-like polypeptides have been reported, which together comprise the EGF family of growth factors. Each of these peptide shares at least one EGF-like domain comprising disulfide linkages. The EGF family includes transforming growth factor (TGF)- α , amphiregulin (AR), heparin-binding EGF (HB-EGF), epiregulin (EPR), betacellulin (BTC), neuregulins 1–4 (NRG1-4), and teratocarcinoma-derived growth factor (Cripto-1) ⁽⁸⁸⁾.

1.5.2 Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR):

Four family members are human epidermal growth factor receptor-1 (Her1) or receptor tyrosine kinase family (ErbB1), Her2 (ErbB2), Her3 (ErbB3), and Her4 (ErbB4). Each of these receptors exhibits structural similarities in its extracellular, transmembrane, and cytosolic domains. The EGFR signaling pathway is one of the most important pathways that regulate growth, survival, proliferation, and differentiation in mammalian cells. Binding of EGF results in EGF receptor dimerization, autophosphorylation of the receptor, and tyrosine phosphorylation of other proteins. The EGF receptor activates ras and the MAP kinase pathway. Phosphatidylinositol signaling and calcium release induced by EGF activate protein kinase C is another component of EGF signalling pathway. Crosstalk of EGF signaling with other pathways make the EGF receptor a junction point between signaling systems therefore EGF have several physiological functions ⁽⁹⁰⁾.

1.5.3 Common cited effects of epidermal growth factor (EGF):

1- Its ability to induce mitogenesis in various cells types of ectodermal and mesodermal origin, but EGF has also been shown to promote secretion of hormones such as prolactin and human chorionic gonadotropin as well as pituitary hormones and steroids. EGF also induces the differentiation of specific cell types including the differentiation of human trophoblasts to syncytiotrophoblasts. Additionally, EGF has been shown to influence glucose metabolism ⁽⁹¹⁾.

2- Epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor increase the tyrosine phosphorylation and p85 binding to several intracellular docking proteins; insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1), IRS-2, growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 - associated-binding protein 1 (GAB-1) as well as EGFR, leading to the activation of both the metabolic and mitogenic pathways. Furthermore, by activating PI3-kinase pools that are additional to those of insulin, EGF can also augment the down-stream signaling of insulin in insulin-resistant states like Type 2 diabetes ⁽⁹²⁾.

3- Epidermal growth factor receptor activation leads to a cascade of biochemical reactions, which include the phosphorylation of phospholipase C -yl (PLC yl). The last factor induces the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4, 5-bisphosphate (PIP2), and the generation of diacylglycerol and inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate (Ins (1,4,5) P3). Diacylglycerol activates protein kinase C, whereas Ins (1,4,5) P3 releases calcium from intracellular stores. It is conceivable that excessive activation of these critical signal transduction pathways may interfere with important cellular functions, like promote secretion of hormones ⁽⁹³⁾.

4- In streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats, pancreatic β -cell mass was increased threefold, insulin content was increased eightfold and hyperglycemia would reduce in mice treated with EGF plus gastrin compared with pretreatment values. As well as, EGF induce islet regeneration from exocrine pancreatic duct cells .Combination therapy of EGF with gastrin significantly increased cell mass in adult human

pancreatic islets *in vitro* and *in vivo*, an increase that appeared to result from the induction of cell neogenesis from pancreatic duct cells ⁽⁹⁴⁾.

5- Epidermal growth factor receptor ligands are expressed in the developing pancreas, and EGF receptor signaling stimulates proliferation and branching morphogenesis of fetal pancreatic ducts. This process is impaired and islet cell differentiation is delayed in mice lacking EGF receptors ⁽⁹⁵⁾.

6- Epidermal growth factor (EGF) and PDGF stimulated MAPK and Akt (PKB) phosphorylation in a time-dependent manner in freshly isolated cells from the adult ductal network of regenerating adult pancreas ⁽⁹⁵⁾.

7- Epidermal growth factor has been implicated in epithelial cytoprotection, cell survival regulation, cardiac function, and accelerated wound healing in experimental animals. EGF has also been reported to play an essential role in normal epithelial regeneration, which occurs regularly in vital organs such as the gastrointestinal, genitourinary, respiratory, and corneal epithelia. These diverse actions are consistent with the identification of EGFR on cells of different origin, including fibroblast, corneal cells, and breast cells ⁽⁹⁶⁾.

1.6 Glycogen:

Glycogen is a very large, branched polymer of glucose residues that can be broken down to yield glucose molecules when energy is needed. Most of the glucose residues in glycogen are linked by α -1,4-glycosidic bonds. Branches at about every tenth residue are created by α -1,6-glycosidic bonds. It is found in the form of granules in the cytosol in many cell types ⁽⁹⁷⁾. Hepatocytes (liver cells) have the highest concentration of it-up to 8% (100-120g) of the fresh weight in well fed state in an adult. In the muscles, glycogen is found in a much lower concentration (1% of the muscle mass), but the total amount exceeds that in liver. Small amounts of glycogen found in the kidneys, and even smaller amounts in certain glial cells in the brain and white blood cells. Glycogen plays an important role in the glucose cycle ⁽⁹⁷⁾. The most common disease in which glycogen metabolism becomes abnormal is diabetes, in which, because of abnormal amounts of insulin, liver glycogen can be abnormally accumulated or depleted. In the liver, glycogen synthesis and degradation regulated to maintain blood-glucose levels as required to meet the needs of the organism as a whole ⁽⁹⁸⁾.

The regulation of these processes is quite complex. Several enzymes taking part in glycogen metabolism mainly glycogen phosphorylase and glycogen synthase which allosterically respond to metabolites that signal the energy needs of the cell. Hormonally stimulated cascades that lead to the reversible phosphorylation of enzymes also regulate glycogen metabolism. By both these mechanisms, glycogen degradation is integrated with glycogen synthesis where phosphorylation activate glycogen phosphorylase enzyme while deactivate glycogen synthase enzyme ⁽⁹⁹⁾. Glycogen Phosphorylase is one of the phosphorylase enzymes that represent the rate-limiting step in glycogenolysis, it is a dimer of two identical 94 kDa subunits and has three isozymes: Phosphorylase glycogen muscle (PYGM), Phosphorylase glycogen liver (PYGL), and Phosphorylase glycogen brain (PYGB). A separate isozyme of phosphorylase expressed in liver is less sensitive to these allosteric controls ⁽¹⁰⁰⁾.

- AMP (present significantly, when ATP is depleted) activates phosphorylase, promoting the relaxed (active) conformation.
- ATP and glucose-6-phosphate inhibit phosphorylase, promoting the tense (inhibited) conformation.
- Thus, glycogen breakdown inhibited when ATP and glucose-6-phosphate are plentiful.

Glycogen synthase is allosterically activated by glucose-6-phosphate (G6P) (opposite of the effect on phosphorylase), thus glycogen synthase is active when high blood glucose leads to elevated intracellular G6P as shown in table $(1-2)^{(100)}$.

Enzyme	Activators	Inhibitors
Glycogen phosphorylase	AMP	ATP, G6P
Glycogen synthase	G6P	—

Table (1-2): Allosteric activators and inhibitors of glycogen phosphorylase and
glycogen synthase ⁽¹⁰⁰⁾.

In response to low blood sugar, glucagon which is synthesized by alpha-cells of the pancreas, activates G-protein coupled receptors to trigger cAMP cascades in liver. The cAMP cascade results in phosphorylation and activates glycogen phosphorylase enzyme, so the needs of the organism take precedence over the needs of the cell ⁽¹⁰¹⁾. The cAMP cascade has the opposite effect on glycogen synthesis. The regulation of Glycogen synthase (GS) by covalent modifications is highly complex and consists of sequences of hierarchal phosphorylations on at least nine different sites catalyzed by a range of kinases including PKA, phosphorylase kinase and glycogen synthase kinase 3. AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) has also been shown to directly phosphorylate GS. Phosphorylation of glycogen synthase promotes the less active conformation ⁽¹⁰²⁾.

In response to high blood sugar (immediate after meal), glucagon level will decrease and insulin is secreted from pancreatic β cells. Insulin stimulates insulin-stimulated protein kinase which phosphorylates G-subunit of phosphoprotein phosphatase-1 (PP-1). This phosphatase catalyzes removal of regulatory phosphate residues from phosphorylase, phosphorylase kinase, and glycogen synthase enzymes, thus insulin antagonizes effects of the cAMP cascade induced by glucagon and epinephrine ⁽¹⁰³⁾. In liver, glucose in blood enters freely into the hepatocyte when the glucose is high in bloodstream. Glucose itself inhibits glycogen phosphorylase. Phosphoprotein phosphorylase-1 (PP-1) activates glycogen synthase and deactivates glycogen phosphorylase. Therefore, the liver can store the excess of glucose as glycogen. The two kinds of GP regulation can be viewed as reflecting temporal and spatial differences in energy demanding states: As opposed to the rising AMP concentration that is mainly a result of declining energy levels inside the cell, calcium and cAMP are second messengers triggered by signals from outside the cell, mediating in this case a future energy need as a consequence of cell activation as revealed in (fig. 1-10) ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾. As an allosteric modulator AMP is a direct activator of GP, while the phosphorylation cascade consists of a sequence of reactions. Finally, decrease in AMP could be viewed as a fast route to a slower activation by the cAMP-triggered phosphorylation cascade ⁽¹⁰⁵⁾.

1.7 Interleukin-1β (IL-1β)

Interleukin 1-beta (IL-1 β) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that plays important roles in inflammation. It is produced after infection and it is a key regulator of the body's inflammatory response injury, and an antigenic challenge. Numerous biological effects has been shown by the single polypeptide IL-1 β , cloned in 1984 ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾. It shows a role in several diseases, involving autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel diseases, and type 1 diabetes, also in diseases associated with metabolic syndrome such as atherosclerosis, chronic heart failure, and type 2 diabetes. The primary source of IL-1 β is the macrophage, but epidermal, epithelial, lymphoid, and vascular tissues also synthesize IL-1 β . Recently, IL-1 β production and secretion have also been informed from pancreatic islets, IL-1 β signal effects influencing insulin action and insulin secretion ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾. Another study showing that genetic variation in IL1 gene family is associated with hyperglycemia and insulin resistance provides another proof for the involvement of IL-1 β in the pathogenesis of diabetes ⁽¹⁰⁷⁾.



Figure (1-10) ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾: Regulation of glycogen metabolism and role of PDE enzymes in controlling this processes. cAMP: Cyclic adenosine monophosphate; ATP: Adenosine triphosphate; ADP: Adenosine diphosphate; UTP: Uridine-5'-triphosphate; UDP: Uridine diphosphate.

The central involvement of IL-1 β iAn a wide range of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases makes it an attractive target for therapeutic interventions. IL-1 β expression is believed to be regulated largely at the level of transcription and by its processing and release. Pro–IL-1 β synthesis is induced by lipopoly-saccharide (LPS) through activation of the nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾. Pro–IL-1 β can be cleaved into the biologically active cytokine by several proteases in the extracellular space but caspase 1 is the main protease responsible for cleavage within macrophages ⁽¹⁰⁹⁾. Cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) influences the signal transduction that leads to the transcription of TNF α and IL-1 β . The major cGMP target in many cell types is protein kinase G, and cGMP-dependent inhibition of proto-oncogene, serine / threonine kinase (Raf-1) by phosphorylation on serine 43 by protein kinase G has been reported. High cGMP concentrations can cross-activate protein kinase A and lead to extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) as well as Raf-1 inhibition followed by decrease activation of nuclear transcription factor of its target genes encoding cytokines including IL1 beta ⁽¹¹⁰⁾.

IL-1 β has been proposed to mediate both impaired function and destruction of pancreatic β cells during the development of autoimmune type 1 diabetes. In keeping with this, treatment of rodent islets with IL-1 β results in a potent inhibition of insulin secretion followed by islet destruction. In human islets, IL-1 β has been shown to impair insulin release and to induce Fas expression, enabling Fas-triggered apoptosis. Finally, activation of the nuclear transcription factor NF- κ B is required for IL-1 β -induced Fas expression. Rat β -cells also produce IL-1 β -converting enzyme, the enzyme required for activation of IL-1 β . Human β cells themselves are capable of producing IL-1 β independently of any viral infection or immune mediated process, in response to glucose ⁽¹¹¹⁾. Antagonizing IL-1 receptor-mediated activity reduces hyperglycemia and tissue inflammation in diabetic mice and humans and favors the possibility of β -cell regeneration in addition to normalizing

insulin secretion. Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress may provide the link between IL-1β and β-cell dysfunction, reduce ER calcium storage, and induce ER stress, suggesting a possible mechanism of islet dysfunction and apoptosis ⁽¹¹²⁾. Cytokines induces excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and activation of caspases, which inhibit insulin secretion and promote apoptosis of pancreatic β cells. Several studies have found an overexpression of superoxide dismutase (SOD) also protects β-cells from IL-1β or other cytokine induced apoptosis by repressing NF-κB activation. It has been demonstrated that pioglitazone also protects human islet β-cells from IL-1β-induced apoptosis by blocking NF-κB activation ⁽¹¹³⁾. Collectively, IL-1β inhibits β-cell function and promotes Fas-triggered apoptosis in part by activating the transcription factor NF-κB. Increased production and release of IL-1β, followed by NF-κB activation, Fas upregulation, DNA fragmentation, and impaired β-cell function ⁽¹¹¹⁾.

1.8 Aims of the study

This study was designed:

- To investigate the biochemical and immunohistochemical effects of sildenafil on kidney, liver, pancreas and submandibular gland of adult male rats.
- To study the effect of sildenafil on EGF production by the submandibular glands and kidneys in male rats.
- To study the effects of sildenafil on glycogen phosphorylase, hepatic glycogenolysis and hepatic glycogen content.
- To study antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effect of sildenafil, and the relation with blood glucose level, C-peptide and body weight.

Chapter Two

Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemicals

All chemicals and reagents were of the highest available purity and need no more purification (table 2-1). Specific kit, chemicals and reagents used in this study are shown in tables (2-2, 2-3, 2-4, 2-5, 2-6 and 2-7).

Chemical	Suppliers
Diethyl Ether	QualiKems-India
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	SIGMA-ALDRICH
DPX mounting medium	SyrBio-Switzerland
Eosin solution (water-based)	SyrBio-Switzerland
Ethanol (99%)	Scharlau-Spain
Formalin (37%-40%)	SIGMA CHEMICAL coUSA
Hematoxylin solution	SyrBio-Switzerland
NaH ₂ PO sodium dihydrogen phosphate	fluka germany
Na ₂ HPO ₄ sodium phosphate dibasic	fluka germany
Paraffin wax (5 kilos)	Medite-USA
Phosphate buffer solution (PBS)	DAKO, Denmark
Positively charged microscope slides	Fisherbrand Superfrost- USA
Sildenafil citrate powder	SDI
Tween 20	SCRC-China
Xylene	Scharlau-Spain

Table (2-1): Chemical and solvent.

Table (2-2): Periodic Acid Schiff staining (PAS) Kit (500 ml) (Atom Scientific, UK).

Contains	size
Haemalum Mayer	500 ml
Feulgen Stain (Schiff)	500 ml
Periodic Acid 0.5%	500 ml

Table (2-3): The primary immunohistochen	lical kits.
------------------------------------------	-------------

Name	Cat no.	Company
Rabbit anti epidermal growth factor	bs-2010R	Bioss
polyclonal antibody.		
Rabbit polyclonal antibody to glycogen	PAA849Ra02	Cloud-Clone Corp.
phosphorylase, Liver (PYGL).		

Table (2-4). The Secondary minuto-instochemical detection system.			
Materials	Quantity	Part Number	
HRP-anti-Mouse, Rat & Rabbit Polymer	5ml	K405-50-4	
Peroxidase Block (H ₂ O ₂)	5 ml	K405-50-1	
Primary Ab dilution buffer	8ml	K405-50-3	
Protein Blocking solution	5ml	K405-50-2	
Reagent BS (buffer & substrate)	5ml	K405-50-5	
Reagent C (conc. DAB chromogen)	1ml	K405-50-6	

Table (2-4): The Secondary immuno-histochemical detection system.

Table (2-5): Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β) Rat ELISA Kit.

Materials	Quantity	Cat no.
Assay Diluent A	30mL	
Biotinylated anti-rat IL-1β	2 vials	ab100767
Recombinant Rat IL-1β Standard		
IL-1β Microplate (12 x 8 wells)	96 wells	
Stop Solution	8 mL	
20X Wash Buffer Concentrate	25mL	
200X HRP-Streptavidin Concentrate	200 µL	
TMB One-Step Substrate Reagent	12 mL	

Table (2-6): Total Antioxidant Capacity (TAC) Assay kit.

Materials	Quantity	Cat no.
Assay Diluent	10 mL	
Cu2+ Reagent	200 µL	ab65329
Protein Mask	10 mL	
Trolox Standard (1 µmol) Lyophilized	1 vial	

Table (2-7): C-peptide roche kit.		
Materials	suppliers	
Cobas C–peptide kit	Roche-germany	

Table (2-7): C-peptide roche kit.

2.2 Instruments:

Instruments, equipment and software used in this study are summarized in tables (2-8, 2-9) correspondingly.

Instruments	suppliers
insti unicitis	suppliers
ACCU-CHECK Glucometer	Roche Diagnostics (Switzerland)
Automated Upright Microscope System with	Leica-microsystems
LED Illumination for Life Sciences	
Leica DM4000 B LED	
Centrifuge	Hettich Universal (Germany)
Cold Plate for Modular Tissue Embedding	Leica-biosystems
System Leica EG1150 C	
Electrical oven	Memmert(Germany)
Heated Paraffin Embedding Module	Leica-biosystems
Leica EG1150 H	
Mettler H54 A.R. Microbalance	Karl Kolb (Germany)
Microplate reader	Biotec ELx 800 (Germany)
Microplate washer ELx50	Biotec ELx50 (Germany)
Multistainer Leica ST5020	Leica-biosystems
Orbital Shaker	GFL (Germany)
pH meter	Inolab (Germany)
Semi-automated Rotary Microtome	Leica-biosystems
Leica RM2245	
Semi-enclosed Benchtop Tissue Processor	Leica-biosystems
Leica TP1020	
Thermostatic waterbath	Gemmy (Tiawan)
Vortex Mixer	Cleaver(Germany)

 Table (2-8): Instruments with their suppliers.

Equipment				
1-	Cotton swabs	14-	Micropipette (volac. U.K) 100 -	
			1000 μL	
2-	Eppendorf tubes	15-	Pap pen	
3-	Forceps	16-	Plates for colorimetric assay	
4-	Flasks	17-	Pipette tips	
			Positively charged microscope	
5-	Filter paper	18-	slides (superfrost plus, thermo -	
			scientific, USA)	
6-	Glass cover slips	19-	Rat gavage needle	
7-	Glass staining jar	20-	Rat surgical kit	
8-	Gloves	21-	Slide holders	
9-	Graduated cylinder	22-	Syringes $10 \text{ cc} + 5\text{cc} + 1\text{cc}$	
10-	Humid champer	23-	Timer	
11-	Leica microtome disposable blades	24-	Tissue Cassettes	
12-	Micropipette (capp. Denmark) 0.5-	25-	Tubes	
	10 µL			
13-	Micropipette (volac. U.K) 10-100			
	μL			
Software				
1.	Adobe Photoshop CC (version 14.2	.1, 21	.04)	
2.	Image J (version 1.48, NIH, USA, 2	2014)		
3.	SPSS statistics (version 22, 2014)			

Table (2-9): Equipment and Software.

2.3 Animals and study design:

Forty eight adult Wistar male rats (weighing 200–250 gm) were used in this study. They were obtained from the Animal House of Department of Pharmacology & Toxicology, College of Pharmacy/Al Mustansiriyah University. Animals were randomly divided into 4 groups each group contains 12 animals as shown in table (2-10):

(,		
Group	No.	Treatment	Duration
Α	12	administered 0.5 mg/kg/day sildenafil oral solution by	Six
		using oral gavage tube	weeks
В	12	administered 1 mg/kg/day sildenafil oral solution by	Six
		using oral gavage tube	weeks
С	12	administered 2 mg/kg/day sildenafil oral solution by	Six
		using oral gavage tube	weeks
D	12	administered saline by using oral gavage tube	Six
(control)			weeks

Table (2-10): The rats in the control group D and treatment groups (A, B, C).

Plastic cages of (20x25x35 cm) dimension used to keep three animals per cage. Animals within the same cage were differentiated by tail markings using a waterproof marker. Before starting study protocol the animals were kept for 2 weeks under controlled conditions of temperature of $(22 \pm 1^{\circ}\text{C})$ with light schedule of 12-12 hour's light/dark cycles and the animal house was provided with an air vacuum to be adapted with the environment of the animal house. Foods (commercial pellets from a local) and water were accessible freely to the animals. Animals care started in 23/11/2014 and ended in 26/3/2015. The study was initiated after seeking approval from the ethics committee of the college of Pharmacy/AL-Mustansiriyah University.

2.4 Body weight measurements:

Baseline body weight measurements were taken on the first day of the study immediately following the acclimatization period and at the end of 6th week of treatment period.

2.5 Blood glucose measurements:

All the animals were bled on the first day of the experiment immediately following the acclimatization period and at the end of 6th week of treatment period, by sequential snipping of the tip of the tail as described by Fluttert *et al.* 2000 ⁽¹¹⁴⁾. A glucometer (Accu-Chek Go, Roche) was used to measure the fasting blood glucose (FBG) levels ⁽¹¹⁵⁾.

2.6 Treatment administration:

Each day of the study sildenafil citrate oral stock solution (0.5mg/ml) is prepared freshly by dissolving (10mg) white to off-white sildenafil citrate crystalline powder in 20 ml distilled water. A calculated dose of sildenafil for each rat (in treatment group) was drawn in an insulin syringe then delivered to the animal via direct instillation into the stomach or lower esophagus (gavage) of a conscious rat is by far the most accurate method to administer drugs into the gastrointestinal tract. However, because this technique is performed in a conscious rat, iatrogenic injury to the esophagus and pulmonary aspiration are possible sequelae. Using adequate manual restraint, the rat was held in a vertical position with its nose aimed toward the ceiling so as to form a straight line between the rat's mouth and stomach. Next, the gavage needle was gently inserted into the oral cavity through the left diastema and passed along the roof of the oral cavity toward the ramus of the right mandible. As the animal swallows, the instrument was advanced down into the esophagus. Finally, once the needle was advanced to the appropriate depth, the solution slowly infused by depressing the plunger of the syringe ⁽¹¹⁶⁾.

2.7 Animal sacrifice:

At the end of 6^{th} week, blood collected from animals (3-4 ml) by cardiac puncture then rats euthanized by decapitation ⁽¹¹⁷⁾.

2.7.1 Serum sample preparation:

Collected blood was allowed to clot for 30 min in plane tube without an anticoagulant at 25°C. Then, blood samples were centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 15 min, and serum layers were pipetted off without disturbing the white buffy layers. Subsequently, serums were stored in frozen state for detection of interleukin 1-beta (IL-1 β), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and C-peptide.

2.7.2 Organ harvest:

After opening the abdominothoracic cavity, the liver was easily identified, and all four lobes of liver were transferred to the fixative after washing with normal slaine. The pancreas was identified by pushing the stomach upwards to reveal the spleen that was then held by a forceps with a little traction. The pancreas extended from the spleen to the duodenum along the greater curvature of the stomach. It was carefully dissected away from these organs and isolated ⁽¹¹⁸⁾. The kidney located toward the back of the abdominal cavity on either side of the spine, dissect them by cutting longitudinally. The submandibular a lobular structure located on the sides of the neck, between muscles ventral to the parotid gland. Carefully remove the skin of the neck and face to reveal these glands.

2.8 Tissue preparation and staining

2.8.1 Tissue preparation:

After fixation with 10% buffered formalin, tissue processing will be started according to Bancroft and Stevens the tissues were processed as follows ⁽¹¹⁹⁾: Fixation, dehydration, clearing, impregnation, embedding, sectioning, using semienclosed Benchtop tissue processor Leica TP1020, heated paraffin embedding module Leica EG1150 H, cold Plate for modular tissue embedding system Leica EG1150 C, after programing according to type of staining (fig. 2-1).



Figure (2-1): Tissue processing machines.

1- Fixation:

Immediately after organs separation, organs were cut to two or three part to ensure proper infusion of fixative, prolong fixation usually yields less accurate results (false negative) and affect the tissue binding sites of the immunohistochemical markers used in the study.

2. Dehydration:

Tissue processor basket was transferred automatically from the fixative to the graded concentration alcohol jars at room temperature as follows:

a- Two changes of 70% ethanol, each change for 2 hours.

b- Ethanol 90% for 2 hours.

c- Two changes of absolute ethanol, each change for 2 hours.

3. Clearing:

Leica basket was transferred automatically in two change of xylene jar, 1 hour for each to remove alcohol and give the tissues some degree of transparency.

4. Wax impregnation:

Leica basket was transferred automatically in two change of molten paraffin wax (56^oC melting point), 3 hours for each to remove the clearing agent.

5. Embedding:

Embedding was done by leica paraffin embedding module, the specimens cassette were transferred from the paraffin jar of leica processor to warming tray of leica paraffin embedding module, then working area to embedding the mold, finally mold putted on cold spot and labeled. When the wax surface (in the mold) was solidified, the mold was transferred to lieca cold plat, after being solid, the blocks were kept in refrigerator at 4 c° until used.

6. Sectioning:

Leica semi-automated rotary microtome used for sectioning, after trimming, the section thickness was set to 5 μ m for (H&E, PAS) and 4 μ m for immunohistochemistry (IHC). Serial sections were taken from each block then placed into water bath, preheated to 40-44 C° to relax the sections from compression due to sectioning then the sections were placed onto slides (positive charged for IHC).

7. De waxing and hydration:

Loading slides to holder then leave it in 70 °C oven for 2 hour then immersed in Pre-warmed (55 °C) xylene for 5 minutes and xylene (at room temperature 20-25 °C) for 2 minutes followed by passing the slides through 1: 1 xylene to absolute ethanol for 3 minutes then descending concentration of ethyl alcohol baths (99%,

90%, 70% and 50%) three minute for each and then washed with distilled water.

2.8.2 Tissue staining:

2.8.2.1 Hematoxylin and eosin staining:

A- Staining: Loading slides in (Leica Multistainer ST5020) after programing as follow ⁽¹¹⁹⁾:

a- Harri's Hematoxylin solution 3 minutes.

b- Running tap water for 5 minutes.

c- Acid alcohol 5 seconds.

d- Running tap water 1 minute.

e- Eosin 1% solution for 2 minutes.

f- Running tap water for 5 minutes.

g- Dehydrated in graded alcohol (70%, 80%, 90% and 99%) 1minute for each, cleared in xylene (2-3 minutes).

Dislodging slides from Leica multistainer and mounted by DPX mounting medium.

B- Microscopical study:

A digital microscope System with Leica DM4000 B LED was used to capture five zones of a slide (corners and the center) which randomly at X400 magnification were selected.

2.8.2.2 Liver periodic acid schiff (PAS) stain:

Liver sections were stained with periodic acid schiff (PAS) for histochemical detection of glycogen ⁽¹²⁰⁾.

A- Principle:

The PAS stain is a histochemical reaction in that the periodic acid oxidizes the carbon to carbon bond forming aldehydes which react to the fuchsin-sulfurous acid which form the magenta color. PAS Stain Kit (Atom Scientific, UK) was used and the manufacturer's protocol was a modified McManus protocol as follows:

a- De waxing and rehydration of slides section.

b- Sections were oxidized in 0.5% periodic acid solution for 5 minutes and then washed in several changes of distilled water.

c- The slides were placed in Schiff reagent solution for 20 minutes at room temperature (sections became light pink color during this step) and then washed in lukewarm tap water for 5-10 minutes (Immediately sections turned dark pink/magenta in color).

d- Counterstaining in haemalum Mayer's haematoxylin was then performed for 5 minutes. Slides were washed in tap water for 5 minutes, differentiated in 0.5% acid alcohol and then blued in tap water for two minutes.

e- Slides were finally dehydrated in graded alcohol (70%, 80%, 90% and 99%) one minute for each, cleared in xylene (2-3 minutes) and mounted.

B- Assessment of hepatic glycogen content:

A digital microscope system with Leica DM4000 B LED was used to capture five zones of a slide (corners and the center) which randomly at X400 magnification were selected PAS stained liver sections were examined for glycogen content by Adobe Photoshop CC14 ⁽¹²¹⁾.

Adobe Photoshop digital subtraction techniques were utilized to facilitate assessment of hepatic glycogen content. First, all central veins and interlobular vascular spaces were selected and subtracted from the digital image using the commands (magic wand, feather, threshold and cut). Then, the area of interest (PAS positive color) was selected using the magic wand tool and the whole "of interest" surface area was calculated using the record measurement command (fig.2-2).



Figure (2-2): Selection (A) & subtraction (B) of central vein and interlobular vascular spaces followed by selection (C) and calculation of surface area (D) of area of interest (PAS positive signal of hepatic glycogen) using adobe Photoshop software.

2.8.2.3 Immunohistochemistry staining:

A- Principle of the test:

A biotin free-horseradish peroxidase conjugate, 3-3'diaminobenzidine HRP/ DAB system is intended for use with primary antibody from rabbit or mouse for the qualitative identification of antigens by light microscopy and immunohistochemistry in formalin fixed and paraffin embedded tissues. After application of primary antibody which bind to specific antigens present in the specimen, any excess antibody is removed by washing, followed by sequential incubation with a horseradish peroxidase conjugate to the primary anti body and unbound enzyme is removed by washing. Staining is completed and the brown end product is formed after incubation with the substrate-chromogen (3-3'diaminobenzidine) (DAB) and it is oxidized when it donates electrons to activate the HRP/H₂O₂ reaction ⁽¹¹⁹⁾.

B- Immunohistochemistry procedure: involve the following steps ⁽¹¹⁹⁾:

- After de waxing and rehydration slides section, slides holder changed in the water until ready to perform antigen retrieval. After this point the slides section should not allowed to dry.
- 2- Retrieval jar filled with antigen retrieval solution (Sodium Citrate buffer (PH 6)).

Sodium Citrate Buffer (for antigen retrieval):

Tri-sodium citrate (dihydrate) (2.94 g) dissolve in 1000 ml of distilled water.

1NHCl added to adjust pH to (6), finally 0.5 ml of Tween 20 mixed.

- **3-** Retrieval jar kept in preheated water path (100° C) for 30 min.
- 4- Loading slides in retrieval jar, preserved 20 min. Less than 20 minutes may leave the antigens under retrieved, leading to weak staining. More than 20 minutes may leave them over-retrieved, leading to nonspecific background staining and also increasing the chances of sections dissociating from the slides. Then slides removed to holder in distal water.
- **5-**Hydrophobic barrier circle drawn surrounded tissue sections by pap pen hold aqueous solutions within a defined area, reducing the use of excess reagents.
- **6-** In the humid chamber slides stuffed then enough drops of peroxidase blocking reagent was placed onto the sections and incubated for 15 minutes.
- 7- Phosphate buffered saline used twice for wishing the slides then then drained and wipe around the sections with tissue paper gently, recollected slides to humid chamber.
- **8-** Tow drops of protein-blocking reagent was placed onto the section and incubated for 10 minutes in a humid chamber. Then slides were drained and blotted gently.
- 9- One drops of diluted primary antibody was placed onto the section and incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C in a humid chamber. After incubation, the slides were drained and blotted gently.
- **10-** Slides were rinsed twice with PBS, then drained and wipe around the sections with tissue paper gently.
- **11-** Tow drops of secondary antibody, HRP (horseradish peroxidase), was placed on to the section and incubated for 10 minutes at 37^oC in a humid chamber. Slides were drained and blotted gently.
- **12-** Slides were rinsed twice with PBS, then drained and wipe around the sections with tissue paper gently.
- 13- Tow drops of freshly prepared substrate chromogen solution was placed on to sections and incubates for 10 minutes at 37 C° in humid chamber.
- 14- Loading slides in slides holder, kept holder for 4 mints in slowly running tab water.
- 15-Slides stuffed in humid chamber.
- 16- Tow drops of Hematoxylin was placed onto the section an incubated for three minutes.
- 17- Slides reloaded in holder then rinse in slowly running tab water.
- **18-** Slides holder changed into distilled water jar then dehydrated by placing them in ethanol and xylene in the following order:
 - a- 70% ethanol for 3 minutes.
 - b- 95% ethanol for 3 minutes.
 - c- Absolute ethanol for 3 minutes.
 - d-1:1 Xylene to absolute ethanol for 3 minutes.
 - e- Xylene for 3 minutes.
 - f- Fresh xylene for 3 minutes.
- **19-** Two drops of mounting medium distyrene (a polystyrene), a plasticiser (tricresyl phosphate), and xylene (DPX) was placed onto the xylene-wet section then covered with a cover slip.

C- Quality control:

1- Positive control: The same sample of normal tissue was included for each antibody for all immunohistochemical staining as a positive control.

2- Negative control: negative control slides used to check specificity of staining by omitting primary antibody and applying antibody diluents alone. This was taken under identical test condition (in the same slide).

D- Assessment of immunohsitochemical stain uptake:

1- A digital microscope System with Leica DM4000 B LED was used to capture five zones of a slide (corners and the center) which randomly at X400 magnification were selected.

2- Glycogen phosphorylase and EGF immunohistochemical stain uptake by tissues was assessd using Image J software ⁽¹²²⁾. All scaled images were stacked in RGB mode (Red, Green, and Blue). The stain of interest was selected using the hue, saturation threshold. The selected area was then inverted to black and the number and cumulative surface areas of interest were calculated using the "record measurement" command (fig.2-3).

3- For EGF, membranous and cytoplasmic brown staining was notable. Qualitative estimation of immunostaining of EGF positive cells was graded as follow:

- **a-** Undetectable = ve;
- **b-** Weak = +ve;
- **c-** Strong = 2+ve;
- **d-** Very strong or intense = 3+ve.

This classification according to positive cell number: (-), 0-5% of the positive cells; (+), 5-50% of positive; (2+), 50-75% of positive; (3+), 75-100% of positive ⁽¹²³⁾. The final IHC score value was obtained by multiplying the number of extent and intensity ⁽¹²⁴⁾.



Figure (2-3): Scaling and RGB stacking of images (A) followed by selection & inversion of areas of interest (B) and finally calculating the numbers & surface area (C) using Image J software.

4- For Liver glycogen phosphorylase assessment surface areas of interest were calculated and used for comparison.

2.9 Detection of serum rat Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β):

Detection of rat IL-1 β performed according to manufacturer's protocol use enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay technique (sandwich ELISA) ⁽¹²⁵⁾. Preparing 96-well plate coated with an antibody specific for IL-1 β . Pipetting samples and standards into the wells and IL-1 β present in a sample is bound to the wells by the immobilized antibody. After washing the wells, biotinylated anti-rat IL-1 β antibody is added. The wells are washed away unbound biotinylated antibody, then HRPconjugated streptavidin is added to the wells. Again the wells are washed, a TMB substrate (3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine) solution is pipetted to the wells and color develops in proportion to the amount of IL-1 β bound. After stop solution the color changes from blue to yellow (fig. 2-4), and the intensity of the color is measured at 450 nm.

2.10 Detection of serum total anti-oxidant capacity (TAC):

According to manufacturer's protocol, total antioxidant capacity can measure both small molecule antioxidants (ascorbate, uric acid, GSH, vitamin E, etc.) and proteins (GSH reductase, catalase, peroxidase albumin, transferrin, etc.) ⁽¹²⁶⁾. Both small molecule and protein convert copper ion (Cu^{2+}) to Cu^+ by. Chelating Cu^+ ion with a colorimetric probe giving a broad absorbance peak around 570 nm, proportional to the total antioxidant capacity. Trolox is used as standard to antioxidants, so antioxidants capability of biological fluids being measured in Trolox equivalents.



Figure (2-4): Micro wells plate after adding stop solution.

2.11 Detection of serum rat C-peptide level:

C-peptide level was measured by using electro-chemi-luminescence (ECL) immunoassay detection technology based on applying a voltage to the sample solution resulting in a precisely controlled reaction, using Cobas analyzer from Roche ^(127, 128). This test applied by Al nadaer clinical laboratory.

2.12 Statistical analysis

The statistical package of SPSS-22 (Statistical Packages for Social Sciencesversion 22) used for analysis of data. Data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation. The significance of difference of different means were tested using **independent -t-test** for difference between two independent means , **paired-t-test** for difference of paired observations (or two dependent means), and **ANOVA** test for difference among more than two independent means. **Pearson correlation** was calculated for the correlation between two quantitative variables with its t-test for testing the significance of correlation. The correlation coefficient value (**r**) either positive (direct correlation) or negative (inverse correlation) with value < 0.3 represent no correlation, 0.3 – 0.5 represent weak correlation, 0.5 – 0.7 moderate strength, > 0.7 strong correlation. Statistical significance was considered whenever the P value was less than 0.05 and highly significant if it was less than 0.01 (¹²⁹).

Chapter Three

Results

3.1 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on body weight:

The statistical values of rats body weight represented as mean \pm SD in control and treated groups with sildenafil are summarized in table (3-1).

The mean body weight of rats in group A was initially (226.3 ± 12.9) , but after six weeks of treatment with an oral dose of sildenafil (0.5 mg/kg/day), they show a high significant decrease (P= 0.0002), where their mean weights were (202 ± 20.7) (table 3-1).

A high significant reduction (P= 0.00003) in body weight was also observed in group B which treated with 1 mg / kg / day oral sildenafil in which their initial mean weight was (230 gm \pm 13.1) and after six weeks of treatment the mean weight became (197.4 gm \pm 20.6) (table 3-1).

In addition, rats of group C with initial mean body weight (230.4 gm \pm 10.9) showed a high significant reduction (P= 0.001) when treated with 2 mg / kg / day oral sildenafil where the mean weight became (209.2 gm \pm 12.6) (table 3-1).

Meanwhile, those rats in group D showed a mean weight of (220.9 gm \pm 12.1), in which after six weeks of oral saline treatment their mean weight was (233.6 gm \pm 13.8) which highly significant increase (P= 0.000) when compared with baseline (table 3-1).

In comparison of all groups to control group (group D) there was highly statistical difference using ANOVA test where P = (0.0007).

57

Group	Initial weight (gm)	Final weight (gm)	% changes in
I	8 (8)	8 (8)	weight (gm)
Group A	226.3±12.9	202±20.7 **	-10.9±6 ^{b,} **
Group B	230±13.1	197.4±20.6 **	-14.5±5.3 ^{a, c,} **
Group C	230.4±10.9	209.2±12.6 **	-9.7±3.5 **
Group D	220.9±12.1	233.6±13.8 **	5.7±2.3
	P-value (ANOVA)		0.0007

Table (3-1): Changes in body weight (gm). Data are expressed as mean±S.D.

** High significant difference of paired T-test at P<0.01when compared final weight with initial weight.

** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.01.

^a Significantly different compared with group A at P <0.05.

^b Significantly different compared with group B at P <0.05.

^c Significantly different compared with group C at P <0.05.



Figure (3-1): The difference in the body weight before and after sildenafil treatment in all groups. ** = P < 0.01 refer to highly significant compared with initial weight.



Figure (3-2): The percent of changes (increase and decrease) in body weight among all groups. ****** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.01; ^a significantly different compared with group A at P<0.05; ^b significantly different compared with group B at P<0.05; ^c significantly different compared with group C at P<0.05.

3.2 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on liver:

3.2.1 Effect on hepatic glycogen content:

The descriptive statistics, which represent the mean \pm SD value for the score of hepatic glycogen content (area %) expression in control and treated with sildenafil groups are displayed in table (3-2).

Group	Liver glycogen content (%) after sildenafil treatment
Α	23.1±1.8 ^{b, c,} **
В	34.5±2.1 ^{a, c,} **
С	65.8±2.7 ^{a, b,} **
D	20.5±1.6
P-value (ANOVA)	0.0001
** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.0	
I " Nignificantly different compared with group A at	[P <u td="" u)<=""></u>

 Table (3-2): Changes in liver glycogen content (area %). Data are expressed as mean ± SD.

^b Significantly different compared with group B at P<0.05.

^c Significantly different compared with group C at P<0.05.

Analysis of data statistically by independent T-test revealed a significant difference (P < 0.05) between each two treated groups.

Independent T-test from control for each treated group shows that the group A glycogen content (fig. 3-4) after six weeks treatment of orally 0.5 mg/kg/day sildenafil was $(23.1\pm1.8\%)$ which is highly statistical different (P< 0.01) than glycogen content (20.5±1.6%) of control group D (fig. 3-3).

While the mean of glycogen content of group B (fig. 3-5) after oral sildenafil treatment 1 mg/kg/day for six weeks was $(34.5\pm2.1\%)$, that highly significant increase in total surface area of glycogen content than control group D (P< 0.01) (fig. 3-3).

In addition, after six weeks of orally sildenafil treatment 2 mg/kg/day, highly significant increase in total surface area of glycogen content ($65.8\pm2.7\%$) of group C (fig.3-6) detected when compared to group D at (P< 0.01) (fig. 3-3).

In comparison of all groups to control group there was highly statistical significant using ANOVA test where P= 0.0001 (table 3-2).



Figure (3-3): Microphotograph of periodic acid–schiff (PAS) staining of rat liver of control group D showing glycogen content of hepatocyte. X400. Black arrow refer to glycogen distribution in hepatocyte.



Figure (3-4): Microphotograph of periodic acid–schiff (PAS) staining of rat liver of group A after 0.5 mg/kg/day sildenafil six weeks treatment showing increasing in glycogen content of hepatocyte. X400. Black arrow refer to glycogen distribution in hepatocyte.



Figure (3-5): Microphotograph of periodic acid–schiff (PAS) staining of rat liver of group **B** after 1 mg/kg/day sildenafil six weeks treatment showing increasing in glycogen content of hepatocyte. X400. Black arrow refer to glycogen distribution in hepatocyte.



Figure (3-6): Microphotograph of periodic acid–schiff (PAS) staining of rat liver of group C after 2 mg/kg/day sildenafil six weeks treatment showing increasing in glycogen content of hepatocyte. X400. Black arrow refer to glycogen distribution in hepatocyte.

3.2.2 Effect on liver glycogen phosphorylase (GP) activity:

Glycogen phosphorylase data expressed as mean \pm SD of (area %) staining score in rats livers. Independent T-test between each treated groups showed a significant difference at (P< 0.05), which summarized in table (3-3).

Group	Liver glycogen phosphorylase (%) after sildenafil treatment	
Α	86.6±1.5 ^{b, c}	
В	76.9±1.8 *, a, c	
С	63±1.7 **, a, b	
D	89.3±19.1	
P-value (ANOVA)	0.00005	
 * Significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.05. ** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.01. a Significantly different compared with group A at P<0.05. b Significantly different compared with group B at P<0.05. c Significantly different compared with group C at P<0.05. 		

Table (3-3): Changes in liver GP content (area %). Data are expressed as mean ± SD.

Statistical analysis by independent T-test from control group D (89.3±19.1%) show the following:

- No statistical significant changing of liver glycogen phosphorylase expression in group A (86.6±1.5%) after six weeks (0.5mg / kg / day) oral sildenafil treatment (fig.3-8) when compared to control group D (fig.3-7) where P= 0.64.
- While the mean of GP expression in group B (76.9±1.8%) revealed significant decrease after six weeks of oral sildenafil treatment (1 mg/kg/day) (fig.3-9) when compared to control group D (fig.3-7) where P = 0.03.
- There was highly significant decrease (P< 0.01) when the control group D (fig.3-7) was compared with group C after six weeks of 2 mg/kg/day orally sildenafil treatment (fig.3-10) where GP content in hepatic tissue was (63±1.7%).

All groups when compared to control group (group D) using ANOVA test, had highly statistical significant where P= 0.00005.



Figure (3-7): Microphotograph of Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of Glycogen phosphorylase in liver of control D group show diffuse reactivity of hepatocyte cytoplasm against GP. X400. Black arrow refer to GP distribution in hepatocyte.





Figure (3-8): Microphotograph of Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of liver GP in group **A** after 0.5 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment, showing cytoplasmic reaction of hepatocyte against GP less than control group. X400. Black arrow refer to GP distribution in hepatocyte.



Figure (3-9): Microphotograph of Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of liver GP in group **B** after 1 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment, showing cytoplasmic reaction of hepatocyte against GP less than control group. X400. Black arrow refer to GP distribution in hepatocyte.



Figure (3-10): Microphotograph of Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of liver GP in group C after 2 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment, showing cytoplasmic reaction of hepatocyte against GP less than group A and B. X400. Black arrow refer to GP distribution in hepatocyte.



Figure (3-11): The changes in glycogen content and glycogen phosphorylase of the liver after sildenafil treatment in all groups. * = P < 0.05 refer to statistically significant when compared with control; ** = P < 0.001 refer to highly significant when compared with control; ^a Significantly different when compared with group A at P < 0.05. ^b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05; ^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P<0.05.

3.3 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on epidermal growth factor (EGF):

The descriptive statistics, which represent as mean \pm standard deviation for the score of EGF in kidneys, pancreas and submandibular gland of sildenafil treated groups of rats and control group, are expressed in table (3-4).

Table (3-4): Changes in epidermal growth factor (EGF) scores. Data are expressed as mean \pm S.D.

Group	Kidney	Pancreas	Submandibular gland		
Α	0.88 ± 0.29 **, b, c	0.75 ± 0.48 **, b, c	0.93 ± 0.27 **, b, c		
В	1.3 ± 0.17 **, a, c	1.52 ± 0.67 **, a, c	1.32 ± 0.30 **, a, c		
С	2.04 ± 0.35 **, a, b	2.12 ± 0.51 **, a, b	1.74 ± 0.31 **, a, b		
D	0.73 ± 0.12	0.26 ± 0.28	0.51 ± 0.07		
P-value (ANOVA) 0.000 0.000 0.000					
 ** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.01; a Significantly different when compared with group A at P<0.05; b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05; 					

^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P<0.05;

3.3.1 The effect on EGF score in the kidney:

The mean EGF score of group A after six weeks of 0.5 mg/kg/day oral sildenafil treatment (fig.3-14) was (0.88 ± 0.29), therefore high significant increase (P<0.01) in EGF in group A when compared to control group which administered saline orally for same duration was detected.

When comparing EGF score of group B (1.3 ± 0.17) with control group, a high significant increase (P<0.01) noticed after six weeks of oral sildenafil treatment 1 mg /kg/day (fig.3-15). Treatment of rats in group C (fig.3-16) with orally sildenafil 2mg

/kg/day for six weeks revealed highly significant increment (P<0.01) of EGF score when compared to control group (fig.3-13).

When comparing all groups score to control group, there were highly statistical significant where P = 0.000.



Figure (3-12): EGF changes in kidney after sildenafil treatment in all groups. * = P < 0.05 refer to statistically significant when compared with control; ** = P < 0.01 refer to highly significant when compared with control; ^a Significantly different when compared with group A at P < 0.05. ^b Significantly different when compared with group B at P < 0.05; ^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P < 0.05.



Figure (3-13): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of control group **D** showing reactivity against EGF. X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.



Figure (3-14): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of group A after 0.5 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.



Figure (3-15): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of group **B** after mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.



Figure (3.16): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in kidney (medulla) of group C after 2 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF. X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.

3.3.2 The effect on EGF score in the pancreas:

The mean score of EGF in group D after six weeks of oral saline (fig.3-18) was (0.26 ± 0.28), while the mean score of EGF in group A (fig.3-19) after six weeks of oral sildenafil treatment 0.5 mg / kg / day was (0.75 ± 0.48), consequently there was highly significant statistical increment (P<0.01) in EGF score when compared to group D.

Meanwhile the mean score of EGF in group B (fig.3-20) after orally sildenafil for six weeks 1 mg/ kg/ day was (1.52±0.67) with highly significant increase when compared to group D.

Additionally high statistical significant increment (P<0.01) in score of EGF in group C (fig.3-21) when compared to group D after 2mg / kg / day orally sildenafil treatment.

All three groups had significant difference in EGF score when compared to control group where P = 0.000.



Figure (3-17): Changes of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas after sildenafil treatment in all groups. * P < 0.05 refer to statistically significant when compared with control; ** P < 0.01 refer to highly significant when compared with control; * Significantly different when compared with group A at P < 0.05. ^b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05; ^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P < 0.05.



Figure (3-18): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans) of group **D**: showing few reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to EGF expression in islet of Langerhans.



Figure (3-19): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans) of group A after 0.5 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to EGF expression in islet of Langerhans.



Figure (3-20): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans) of group **B** after 1 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to EGF expression in islet of Langerhans.



Figure (3-21): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in pancreas (islet of Langerhans) of group C after 2 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to EGF expression in islet of Langerhans.

3.3.3 The effect on EGF score in the submandibular gland:

Sildenafil markedly effect EGF expression in the submandibular gland of group A (fig.3-24) after (0.5 mg / kg / day) orally dose treatment for six weeks was with highly statistical difference (P<0.01) when compared to control group D (fig.3-23).While the mean score of EGF in submandibular gland of group B (fig.3-25) after six weeks of 1mg / kg / day orally sildenafil treatment was (1.32±0.30) with highly significant increase (P < 0.01) score when compared to control group D. Finally, EGF score in group C (fig.3-26) after six weeks treatment with orally sildenafil (2mg / kg / day) was (1.74±0.31) with highly significant increase (P < 0.01) when compared to control group D.

In ANOVA test, All three group had significant difference in EGF score when compared to control group where P = 0.000.



Figure (3-22): Changes of EGF in submandibular after sildenafil treatment in all groups. * = P < 0.05 refer to statistically significant when compared with control; ** = P < 0.01 refer to highly significant when compared with control; ^a Significantly different when compared with group A at P < 0.05. ^b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05; ^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P < 0.05.



Figure (3-23): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group **D**: showing weak reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.



Figure (3-24): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group A after 0.5 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.



Figure (3-25): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group **B** after 1 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF.X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.



Figure (3-26): Microphotograph of immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in submandibular gland of group C after 2 mg/kg/day of sildenafil six weeks treatment: showing increase reactivity against EGF. X400. Black arrow refer to cytoplasmic EGF.

3.4 Serum marker:

3.4.1 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β):

Table (3-5) demonstrates that serum IL-1 β was insignificantly decrease in group A after 0.5mg / kg / day sildenafil oral dose when compared to serum IL-1 β of control group D where P = 0.512.

However the mean IL-1 β of group B which treated with 1mg / kg / day orally sildenafil was (245.1±10.4) where there was significant decrease in group B IL-1 β when compared to control group D IL-1 β where P= 0.04.

Whereas highly significant decrease (P < 0.01) in group C IL-1 β (193±13.5) after treatment with sildenafil by oral gavage in dose of 2mg / kg / day when compared to control group D IL-1 β .

Table ((3-5):	Changes	in IL-16	. Data are	expressed	as mean±S.D.
1 4010 (Changes			•	

Group	Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β)
-	(pg / ml)
А	263±5.9 °
В	245.1±10.4 *, °
С	193±13.5 ** , a , b
D	265.5±11.6
P-value	0.000
(ANOVA)	
* Significant differen	nce of independent T- test when compared with control at $P < 0.05$.

** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.01.

^a Significantly different when compared with group A at P<0.05.

^b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05.

^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P<0.05.



Figure (3-27): The amount of IL-1 β in all groups after sildenafil treatment. ***** = P < 0.05 refer to statistically significant when compared with control; ****** = P < 0.01 refer to highly significant when compared with control; ***** Significantly different from group A at P < 0.05. **b** Significantly different from group B at P<0.05; **c** Significantly different from group C at P < 0.05.

3.4.2 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on total antioxidant capacity (TAC):

When rats treated with sildenafil for six weeks in orally dose 0.5 mg / kg / day in group A, the mean of serum total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in group A was (1.41 \pm 0.10), with significant increment (P <0.05) than mean of serum total antioxidant capacity in control group D.

Also there was high significant elevation (P < 0.01) in serum TAC of group B and C which treated with 1mg/kg/day and 2mg/kg/day sildenafil respectively, when compared to control group D as shown in table (3-5).

All group when compared to control group (group D) using ANOVA test, had highly statistical significant where P=0.000.

Group	total antioxidant capacity (TAC)			
	(mmol trolox equivalents / L)			
А	1.41±0.10 * , b , c			
В	2.08±0.15 **, a			
С	1.93±0.09 ** , a			
D	1.28±0.12			
P-value (ANOVA)	0.000			
 * Significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.05. ** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.01. a Significantly different when compared with group A at P<0.05. 				

Table (3-6): Changes in TAC. Data are expressed as mean±S.D.

^b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05.

^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P<0.05.



Figure (3-28): The amount of Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in all groups after sildenafil treatment. * = P < 0.05 refer to statistically significant different when compared with group D; ** = P < 0.01 refer to highly significant different when compared with group D; ^a Significantly different when compared with group A at P < 0.05. ^b Significantly different when compared with group C at P < 0.05.

3.4.3 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on fasting blood glucose (FBG) and C-peptide:

The mean of initial FBG of group (A) was $(87.8\pm2.4\text{mg/dl})$ and after 0.5 mg/kg /day of oral sildenafil treatment, the mean of final FBG was $(77.8\pm1.4 \text{ mg/dl})$ with significant decrease in total percent of FBG (-11.3±0.9 %) where P= 0.014 and when compared with control group there was a highly significant difference where P = 0.008, this associate with insignificant increase in mean of C-peptide (1.7±0.03 ng/ml) in comparing to mean of C-peptide of control group D where P= 0.53.

Meanwhile the mean of initial FBG of group (B) was $(88.2 \pm 1.4 \text{ mg/dl})$ and after six weeks of sildenafil treatment in oral dose of 1 mg / kg / day, the mean of final FBG was $(70.2 \pm 3.4 \text{ mg/dl})$ with highly significant decrease in total percent of FBG (-20.4±1.2%) where P= 0.000 and when compared with control group there

was a highly significant difference where P=0.000, this associate with insignificant increase in mean of C-peptide (1.8±0.06 ng/ml) in comparing to mean of C-peptide of control group D where P=0.08.

Finally the mean of initial FBG of group (C) was $(85.2\pm1.6 \text{ mg/dl})$ and after 2mg/kg/ day oral sildenafil for six weeks treatment, the mean of final FBG was $(62.3\pm1 \text{ mg/dl})$ with highly significant decrease in total percent of FBG (-26.9±2.5%) where P= 0.000 and when compared with control group there was highly significant difference where P= 0.000, this associate with highly significant increase in mean of C-peptide (2.6±0.15 ng/ml) in comparing to mean of C-peptide of control group D where P= 0.002.

The mean of initial FBG of control group (D) was $(82.2\pm3.2 \text{ mg/dl})$ and after oral administration of saline for six weeks, final FBG was $(89.3\pm2.1 \text{ mg/dl})$ with insignificant increase in total percent of FBG $(8.6\pm1.3\%)$ where P = 0.268, and the mean of C-peptide was $(1.6\pm0.03 \text{ ng/ml})$.

Group	Initial FBG (mg/dl)	Final FBG (mg/dl)	% changes in FBG	C-peptide (ng/ml)
Α	87.8±2.4	77.8±1.4 *	-11.3±0.9 **, b, c	1.7±0.03 °
В	88.2 ±1.4	70.2 ±3.4 **	-20.4±1.2 **, a	1.8±0.06 °
С	85.2±1.6	62.3±1 **	-26.9±2.5 **. a	2.6±0.15 **, a, b
D	82.2±3.2	89.3±2.1 ^{NS}	8.6±1.3	1.6±0.03
	P-value (ANOV	(A)	0.000	0.000

Table (3-7): Changes in FBG & C-peptide. Data are expressed as mean ± S.D.

* Significant difference of paired t-test at P<0.050 when compared final FBG with initial FBG. ** High significance difference of paired t-test at P<0.01 when compared final FBG with

initial FBG.

^{NS} No significant difference of paired t-test when compared final FBG with initial FBG.

* Significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.05.

** High significant difference of independent T- test when compared with control at P<0.01.

^a Significantly different when compared with group A at P<0.05;

^b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05;

^c Significantly different when compared with group C at P<0.05;



Figure (3-29): Changes in FBG before and after sildenafil treatment in all groups. * Significant difference of paired t-test at P<0.05 when compared final FBG with initial FBG.** High significance difference of paired t-test at P<0.01 when compared final FBG with initial FBG.



Figure (3-30): Changes in the level of FBG in all group before and after sildenafil treatment. * Significant difference of independent t-test at P<0.05 when compared with control. ** High significance difference of independent t-test at P<0.01 when compared with control. a Significantly different when compared with group A at P<0.05. b Significantly different when compared with group C at P<0.05.



Figure (3-31): The level of C- peptide after sildenafil treatment in all groups. * Significant difference of paired t-test at P<0.05 when compared with control. ** High significance difference of paired t-test at P<0.01 when compared with control. a Significantly different when compared with group A at P<0.05. b Significantly different when compared with group B at P<0.05. c Significantly different when compared with group C at P<0.05.

3.5 Correlations:

3.5.1 Percent of hepatic glycogen content versus percent of hepatic glycogen phosphorylase (GP):

There was highly significant and strong inverse correlation between hepatic glycogen content and hepatic GP (-.962) with P= 0.000, when there is increasing in hepatic glycogen content there was decrease in hepatic GP.

Table (3-8): Correlation of percent of hepatic glycogen content versus percent of hepatic glycogen phosphorylase (GP).

		Hepatic glycogen area(%)	Hepatic GP area (%)
Pearson	Hepatic glycogen area%	1.000	962
Correlation	Liver GP area%	962	1.000
	Hepatic glycogen area%		.000
Sig. (1-tailed)	Liver GP area%	.000	•



Figure (3-32): Linear graph shows inverse correlation between hepatic glycogen content and hepatic GP.

3.5.2 Percent of hepatic glycogen content versus serum C-peptide:

There was highly significant and strong direct correlation between hepatic glycogen content and serum C-peptide (0.947) with P= 0.000, when there is increasing in hepatic glycogen content there was increase in C- peptide.

		Hepatic glycogen area (%)	C-peptide (ng/ml)
Deerson	Hepatic glycogen area%	1.000	.947
Correlation	C-peptide /(ng/ml)	.947	1.000
Sig (1 tailed)	Hepatic glycogen area%		.000
Sig. (1-tailed)	C-peptide /(ng/ml)	.000	•

Table (3-9): Correlation of hepatic glycogen content versus serum C-peptide.



Figure (3-33): Linear graph shows direct correlation between hepatic glycogen content and serum C-peptide.

3.5.3 Serum C-peptide versus interlukin-1beta (IL-1β):

There was highly significant and strong inverse correlation between serum C-peptide and interlukin-1beta (IL-1 β) (0.906) with P= 0.000, when there is increasing in serum C-peptide there was decrease serum IL-1 β and vice versa.

		C-peptide	Serum interlukin-
		(ng/ml)	1beta (pg/ml)
Pearson	C-peptide (ng/ml)	1.000	906
Correlation	Serum interlukin-1beta	906	1.000
	(pg/ml)		
Sig.	C-peptide /(ng/ml)	•	.000
(1-tailed)	Serum interlukin-1beta	.000	•
	(pg/ml)		

Table (3-10): Correlation of serum C-peptide versus interlukin-1beta.



Figure (3-34): Linear graph shows inverse correlation between serum C-peptide versus interlukin-1beta.

3.5.4 Serum interlukin-1beta (IL-1β) versus final fasting blood glucose (FBG):

There was highly significant and moderate direct correlation between serum IL-1 β and final FBG (0.697) with P= 0.000, when there is increasing in level of IL-1 β there was increase in final FBG.

Table (3- 11): Correlation of serum interlukin-1beta (IL-1 β) versus final fasting blood glucose (FBG).

		IL-1β	Final FBG
		(pg/ml)	(mgL/dl)
Pearson	Serum IL-1β	1.000	.697
Correlation	(pg/ml)		
	FBG (mgL/dl)	.697	1.000
Sig.	Serum IL-1β		.000
(1-tailed)	(pg/ml)		
	FBG (mgL/dl)	.000	•



Figure (3-35): Linear graph shows moderate direct correlation between FBG and C-peptide.
Chapter Four

Discussion

4. Discussion

Sildenafil is a selective inhibitor of PDE5, decrease cGMP hydrolysis and is also characterized by antioxidant activity ⁽¹³⁰⁾. These studies given the security record of this drug, and reveal that phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition sildenafil is possibly a viable approach for the prevention of imbalance in carbohydrate metabolism, insulin resistance and energy expenditure. It is of importance to screen the effects of sildenafil on blood glucose level which is determined in the current study. The level of blood glucose is correlated primarily to insulin level and hepatic glucose metabolizing enzymes. So blood glucose, C-peptide levels, IL1beta, total anti-oxidant and liver glycogen phosphorylase activity and glycogen content, pancreatic changed and body weight are determined for 6 weeks ^(131, 58).

4.1 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on body weight:

Nitric oxide (NO) is one of the signaling molecules synthesized from larginine by NO synthase in animals. Cumulative evidence displays that NO regulates the mammalian metabolism of energy substrates. In intact cells, through cGMP and AMP-activated protein kinase signaling, nitric oxide regulates the metabolism of glucose, fatty acids and amino acids in mammals. Augmenting NOcGMP pathway stimulate glucose uptake as well as glucose and fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle, heart, liver and adipose tissue; inhibit the synthesis of glucose, and fat in target tissues (e.g., liver and adipose tissue); enhance lipolysis in adipocytes; and in reducing unfavorable fat mass in animal ^(132, 133). Cyclic GMP (cGMP) are largely mediated natriuretic peptide–mediated (NP-mediated) biological responses through the guanylyl cyclase domain of NP receptor type A (NPRA). NP stimulate a quick and continuous rise of intracellular cGMP that triggers a cGMPdependent protein kinase, PRKG1, which consequently phosphorylates perilipin 1 and hormone-sensitive lipase, essential steps to initiate lipolysis ⁽¹³⁴⁾. Natriuretic peptide show a potent lipolytic effect in human adipocytes in a cyclic GMP- dependent manner. So the expected from previews findings, revealed that any agent increase cGMP like selective PDE5 inhibitor sildenafil will improve muscle fat oxidative capacity and show increased energy expenditure ^(134, 135). The results of this study shows there was decrease in rat body weight of group A about (-10.9) g after oral administration of 0.5mg of sildenafil from initial body weight, in group B there was more decrease in body weight about (-14.5) g with administration of 1mg of sildenafil from initial body weight, while in group C after 2mg of oral sildenafil the loss in body weight mimic the group A; about (-9.7) g so the group B shows more decrease in body weight after 1mg of sildenafil injection. So, data suggest that sildenafil will decrease rat's body weight but not in a dose dependent manner, this action is not certain, especially in the absence of data on feed intake. In summary treatment of rats with sildenafil significantly decrease body weight comprising with control. This results in concordance with Ayala J. 2007, where Ayala et al. show that in a mouse model of diet-induced insulin resistance, chronically inhibiting cGMP hydrolysis with sildenafil increases energy balance and enhances in vivo insulin action. Treatment with Sildenafil plus L-arginine or sildenafil alone for 12 weeks, had reduced weight and fat mass due to improved energy expenditure in High-fat-fed mice (58).

Phosphodiesterase-5 expression has been detected in the brain, and Sildenafil has been shown to cross the blood-brain barrier. Thus, cyclic GMP signaling in the central nervous system may have a role in the regulation of insulin action, energy homeostasis and improve energy expenditure ^(136, 137). The drop in weight gain and fat mass was related to an increase in energy expenditure. This is reveal with other studies which demonstrating decrease oxygen consumption and increased weight gain in eNOS knockout mice ⁽¹³⁸⁾. Thus, NO-cGMP signaling impairment triggered by eNOS deletion results in reduced energy expenditure and improved weight gain, whereas preserving cGMP signaling, as done in the current studies, increases energy

expenditure and decreases weight gain. Signaling of NO through cGMP has been exposed to induce mitochondrial biogenesis *in vitro* and *in vivo* ^(138, 139). It is probable that chronic sildenafil treatment increases in cGMP subsequently may encouragement mitochondrial function because NO-cGMP signaling has been exhibit to play a role in cellular energy sensing ^(140,141). Dai Z *et al.* 2013 demonstrate that administration of sildenafil which acts by reducing cGMP hydrolysis through inhibition of PDE5, lead to increase blood flow, increases energy expenditure and reduces adiposity in diet-induced rats, genetically obese rats, growing-finishing pigs, and obese humans with type-II diabetes ⁽¹³³⁾.

Either increased in energy expenditure, weight loss can result from reduced energy intake. Reduced energy intake can result from either decreased food intake or impaired food absorption. Dyspepsia (due to relaxation of the smooth muscle of the gastroesophageal sphincter with reflux) is one of secondary effects of sildenafil, a phosphodiesterase blocker that prolongs the relaxant properties of NO-mediated smooth muscle relaxation, which may be also explain the association of weight loss with sildenafil secondary effect on gastrointestinal ⁽¹⁴²⁾. It was suggested that the administration of rat sildenafil (10 mg/kg/day s.c.) for 5 days, there was statistically insignificant decrease in body-weight of treated rats. Wang L *et al.* 2015 report that there was no significantly change in mice body weight after 10 mg/kg of sildenafil (orally administered) for 8 weeks. The reason for this action is not certain which may be related to the difference in dose and duration of treatment ⁽¹⁴³⁾.

4.2 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on liver

4.2.1 Effect on hepatic glycogen content

Under normal conditions, the liver plays a critical role in disposing orally or internally delivered carbohydrate; therefore, limiting postprandial hyperglycemia. This response involves both a decrease in hepatic glucose production and a stimulation of hepatic glucose uptake. The latter is dependent on a number of inputs: circulating concentrations of glucose, nonesterified fatty acids, amino acids, hormones (insulin and glucagon) and neural mediators (NO and norepinephrine) (144). The data from the current study reveal that in vivo treatment of rats with sildenafil, dose-dependently increase hepatic glycogen content. These data are in accordance and support the results of Hoseini et al. 2006 and Abdollahi et al. 2004, they were demonstrated that the hypoglycemic effect of sildenafil is related to increase in liver glycogen content (LGC) where blood glucose is converted to hepatic glycogen and sildenafil administration markedly reduces liver glycogenolysis ^(20, 145). There is also evidence that sildenafil elevate liver glycogen content (LGC) and decreased blood glucose level of diabetic control rats in dose dependent manner (146). Abbott et al. 2004, reported that the main effects of sildenafil in rats, in the one and six month safety studies were dose related increases in liver weight ⁽¹⁴⁷⁾. The putative underlying mechanisms of sildenafil involve augmenting NO/ sGC/ cGMP pathway and activation multiple cyclic GMP pathways. Where NO stimulate glucose uptake, glucose and fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle, heart, liver and adipose tissue, also NO inhibit the liver synthesis of glucose (133). Remarkably, NO is shown to stimulate the increase of glycogen possibly through inhibition of glycogenolysis (148). Moreover glycogen phosphorylase inhibitors, might be anticipated to increase hepatic glycogen content ⁽¹⁴⁹⁾. There are studies showing conversely relationship between daily exposed to sildenafil and liver glycogen content, Abdel-Hafez AM and Othman MA. 2013 suggested that rats treated with 10 mg/kg/day sildenafil for 8 weeks, reduced glycogen staining in hepatocytes ⁽¹⁵⁰⁾. Also Jarrar BM, Almansour MI. 2015 report that male rabbit treated with sildenafil 9mg/kg for 5 days per week for 7 weeks provoked partial depletion of glycogen content ⁽¹⁵¹⁾. To discuss this inconsistency in researchers findings, the exact molecular mechanism by which NO / sGC/ cGMP brings about this hepatic effect must be established, actually controversial opinion in

these aspects, where Moore et al. 2012, suggested that the role of NO / sGC/ cGMP pathway in the regulation of net hepatic glucose uptake and glycogen storage in conversely relationship (152). Also An Z et al. 2012, reported that increase in cGMP in the liver after treatment of dogs with cGMP analog 8-Bromo-cGMP decreased net hepatic glucose uptake through activation of hepatic adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK), but has no effect on hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis (153). While Choudhury J et al. 2004 data propose that phosphodiesterase inhibitor prolonged atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) effects on insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in targeted organ by potentiate sGC-cGMP-PKG pathway also potentiate insulin promotes hepatic glycogen production through the activation of glycogen synthase ⁽¹⁵⁴⁾. That is in agreement and support the current study data, sildenafil effect on liver glycogen content mainly came from sildenafil increase insulin secretion which approved in the current study. There was highly significant and strong direct correlation between hepatic glycogen content and Cpeptide and strong inverse correlation between hepatic glycogen content and liver glycogen phosphorylase (GP), where insulin promotes hepatic glycogen production through the activation of glycogen synthase and inhibiting glycogen phosphorylase.

4.2.2 Effect on liver glycogen phosphorylase (GP) activity:

There is an evidence that liver is one of the organs that well responds to PDE inhibitors by influencing glucose output. The liver plays a major role in blood glucose homeostasis by maintaining a balance between the uptake and storage of glucose via glycogenesis and the release of glucose via glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis. The regulation of these metabolic pathways involves the rapid modulation of the activity of specific enzymes including hepatic key enzymes phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and GP ⁽¹⁵⁵⁾. Glycogen phosphorylase is the key enzyme of glycogen breakdown that catalyzes the degradative phosphorolysis of glycogen to glucose-1-phosphate ⁽¹⁵⁶⁾. This enzyme is

promoted by substrate as well as allosteric effectors, including adenosine monophosphate (AMP).

There is evidence that glucagon and other cAMP-increasing agents exert a glycogenolytic effect by maintaining GP in a phosphorylated active state. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate or Ca²⁺ dependent glycogenolytic agents cause glycogen degradation through specific protein kinases which activate the GP⁽¹⁵⁷⁾. The studies have demonstrated an impact of PDE5 inhibitors upon in animals and human glucose metabolism but the reports were controversial. The results of this study showed that there was insignificant decrease of GP expression in rat liver of group A in comparison to control group after 0.5mg sildenafil, while there was (-12.4) % decrease of GP in rat liver of group B after 1mg sildenafil in comparison to control group, also great decrease in GP of group C rat liver (-26.3%) after 2mg of sildenafil in comparison to control group, so the results of this study indicated that treatment of rats with sildenafil is dose-dependently reduces hepatic GP activity. Moreover, the hypoglycemic effect of sildenafil is related to increase in liver glycogen content (LGC) where blood glucose is converted to hepatic glycogen. Effects of sildenafil on LGC were in agreement with those reported by Abdollahi M et al. 2003 who found that sildenafil administration markedly reduces liver glycogenolysis ⁽¹⁵⁸⁾. Similarly, Hoseini S et al 2006 concluded that administration of sildenafil markedly reduces liver glycogenolysis which in turn lowers blood glucose concentration at higher doses. This effect of sildenafil seems to be in relation with its NO mimicking potential and antioxidant properties ⁽²⁰⁾. Sildenafil, through the inhibition of PDE5 and augmentation of NO-cGMP axis shows similar effects to NO in many organs. NO has been suggested as a second messenger molecule for the stimulatory effect of insulin in carbohydrate metabolism. Tissues Incubation with physiologic concentration of insulin of heart, liver, kidney, muscle and intestine from mice and erythrocytes or their membrane fractions from humans, results in the stimulation of a membrane-bound NOS and NO synthesis. Furthermore, NO has shown an insulinlike effect in stimulating glucose transport and glucose oxidation in muscle, a major site for insulin action that is completely blocked in the presence of NOS inhibitor ⁽²⁰⁾.

In addition, it has been reported that culturing hepatic parenchymal cells in the presence of insulin results in an NO-dependent inhibition of the glucagon stimulated glucose production via gluconeogenesis plus glycogenolysis. Where NO can inhibit both the basal and the glucagon-cyclic AMP-mediated mobilization of glycogen pathway. Also NO is shown to stimulate increase of glycogen possibly through inhibition of glycogenolysis ⁽¹⁴⁸⁾. Considering the ability of sildenafil to reduce hepatic GP activity, one mechanism would be that sildenafil inhibits cAMPdependent processes. To explain this, it should be noted that increasing cGMP is a fundamental mechanism of action of sildenafil. Study on rat hepatocytes in vitro indicated that sildenafil increases hepatocytes cGMP levels but does not significantly alter glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis ^(159, 160, 86). That is partly in agreement with current findings when considering glycogen phosphorylase (GP) does not significantly change with low doses of sildenafil (0.5mg/kg). In the case of PDE2 (highly specific for hydrolysis of cAMP and stimulated by cGMP), this regulation primarily involves the allosteric stimulation of cAMP hydrolysis by cGMP. So, cGMP can inhibit both the basal and the glucagon- cyclic AMPmediated mobilization of glycogen pathway (161). These mentioned mechanisms all explain the inhibitory effect of sildenafil on glycogenolysis and also its blood glucose lowering effect.

4.3 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on epidermal growth factor (EGF):

The granular convoluted tubule (GCT) of rodent submandibular glands synthesized epidermal growth factor (EGF) which is a potent mitogen in various tissues. In man, EGF has been localized either in the duct cells or in serous cells. It is important in many physiological processes as completion of normal pregnancy, spermatogenesis, wound healing and mammary gland development ⁽⁸³⁾. Kidney is another site of the EGF-family ligands synthesis. Endogenous renal EGF production serves as an autocrine stimulus to renal growth, where the EGF associated with physiologic events in the luminal membrane of the thick ascending limb of the loop of Hanley ⁽¹⁶²⁾. The present study demonstrate the marked influence of sildenafil on EGF synthesis by the submandibular glands and kidney (the second site of EGF synthesis) in male rats, and the expression of EGF on its receptors on target organs, beta cells of islets of Langerhans.

The combination of increased submandibular and kidney EGF expression after sildenafil treatment with strongly positive immunoexpression of EGF on its receptors in beta cells, together with β -cell ultrastructure of islets of Langerhans which observed in previous study ⁽⁸³⁾, strongly suggests that sildenafil has stimulate submandibular secretion of EGF. Likewise, epidermal growth factor (EGF) ligands contribute to islet development and therefore may represent candidates for modulating the differentiated state of adult human islet cells. These data agreed with earlier study ⁽⁸⁶⁾, which proposed that sildenafil increased the secretion of EGF and total protein except amylase from the submandibular gland. Sildenafil antioxidant activities might postulate the exact mechanism of sildenafil's stimulatory effect, which might be indorsed to its augmenting effect on cellular cyclic GMP ⁽⁷⁴⁾. Another study by El-Gamal DA et al 2011, in agreement with the present data where cGMP have stimulatory effects on salivary functions. Regarding beneficiary effects of increased salivary flow rate and secretion of EGF in recover β -cells due to sildenafil antioxidative actions. Activation of the nitric oxide (NO) system against oxidative stress by overexpression of NO synthase could be another mechanism for the action of sildenafil $^{(83)}$. Interestingly, β -cell enhancement detected in current study was upgraded after sildenafil treatment, which could be also attributed to its antioxidative actions. New approaches have used EGF for enhancement β -cell regeneration directly or by EGF stimulated mesenchymal cells ^(82, 81). So, it was reasonable for β -cells to recover and developed after increased EGF secretion. Other findings suggest that PDEIs may improve secretion of insulin significantly in response to glucose by the lower doses of tested PDE inhibitors. The level of ROS at the lower doses of PDEIs decreased and the viability of islets were increased ⁽¹⁶³⁾. Deletion or over-expression experiments in mice involving components of the cGMP signaling pathway have contributed to the understanding of long-term effects of altered cGMP signaling, including the regulation of gene expression , may explain modulatory effect of sildenafil on EGF synthesis but further studies are in proposal to investigate this possibility. Some of the effects of cGMP on gene expression are indirect, through cGMP modulation of other signaling pathways, e.g. mitogen activated protein kinase pathways ⁽¹⁶⁴⁾.

However, some effects of cGMP can be directly attributed to cGMP regulation of specific transcription factors such as Cyclic AMP-response element binding protein (CREB) and Proto-oncogene (c-Fos), and are mediated by cGMPdependent protein kinases ^(164, 165). The secretion of EGF from the granular ducts of submandibular gland and released into plasma is predominantly an adreno-receptor mediated ca²⁺-dependant event by cervical sympathetic nerve stimulation, suggesting that its release is regulated by the sympathetic nervous system ⁽¹⁶⁶⁾. It is conceivable that sildenafil may have direct central effects on sympathetic outflow. This potential mechanism is supported, in part, by evidence that sildenafil crosses the blood-brain barrier and that PDE5 is present in the brain ⁽¹⁶⁷⁾. The important findings of this possibility, that sildenafil elicits a marked increase in sympathetic nerve activity, as measured by intra neural recordings of muscle sympathetic nerve activity (MSNA) and by plasma catecholamine levels ⁽¹³⁶⁾. Later studies may have important implications for understanding of sildenafil effect on submandibular sympathetic innervation. Considerably, raise in EGF expression can participate in explanation of liver changes after sildenafil treatment, where EGF receptor and insulin receptor networks share many downstream components. So, both insulin and EGF increase the tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 while EGF is also capable of activating additional PI3-kinase pools and, thus, epidermal growth factor can evoke metabolic responses and augment the downstream signaling of insulin ⁽¹⁶⁸⁾.

4.4 Serum marker

4.4.1 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on Interleukin 1-beta (IL-1 β)

In various signaling pathways, cyclic guanosine monophosphate serves as a second messenger participating and regulating many aspects of cell function. In addition the traditional adjusting role of cGMP in relaxation of smooth muscle and vascular tone regulation, several other physiological roles have lately been revealed. As example, cGMP signaling reported that it has been involved in the downregulation of P-selectin expression and leukocyte recruitment in mice. In both human monocytes and murine macrophages, cGMP analogues and cGMP elevating agent also have displayed some anti-inflammatory activity by inhibiting TNF-a and IL-1 β secretion ⁽¹⁶⁹⁾. In the present study, *in vivo* effects of once daily oral administration of the PDE5 inhibitor sildenafil for six weeks in normal rats, led to a reduced concentration of serum IL-1 β dose-dependently. Many studies on the synergistic of the current result, where sildenafil down regulate inflammatory cytokines ^(170, 171). In alternative human study, sildenafil has no significant effect on serum IL1beta in low doses less than 0.3mg/kg. This completely in accordance with present data in serum IL-1 β in group A compared to control group after 0.5mg/kg sildenafil⁽¹⁷²⁾. Previous studies address that increasing the bioavailability of cGMP might be beneficial in ameliorating the inflammation, elevates intracellular cGMP, but not cAMP suppresses the LPS-induced production of TNF- and IL-1β. Also cGMP analogues 8-bromo-cGMP and dibutyryl cGMP as well as the NO donor S-nitrosocysteine were used to inhibit TNF- and IL-1 release after stimulation with LPS. Inhibition of PDE by zinc abrogates the LPS-induced release of TNF- and IL-1 by increasing intracellular cGMP levels. Interleukin 1-beta processing and activation involves the IL-1-converting enzyme, a caspase family cysteine protease (110).

An inhibition of caspase activity through cGMP-dependent pathways which has been demonstrated previously, may explain these findings. When the NO donor S-nitrosocysteine was used to activate sGC, LPS-induced TNF- and IL-1release was suppressed. Cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) influences the signal transduction that leads to the transcription of TNF α and IL-1 β . The major cGMP target in many cell types is protein kinase G, and cGMP-dependent inhibition of Raf-1 by phosphorylation on serine 43 by protein kinase G has been reported. High cGMP concentrations can cross-activate protein kinase A and lead to extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) as well as Raf-1 inhibition followed by decrease activation of nuclear transcription factor of its target genes encoding cytokines including IL1 beta $^{(110)}$. This study has important findings, that serum IL-1 β was negatively correlated with insulin so β -cell function and positively related with fasting glucose. Based on this data, it was concluded that IL-1 β as an inflammation cytokine play important role insulin secretion of pancreatic beta cell. These data support the recent hypothesis that IL-1 β involved with the demise of the β -cell ⁽¹¹²⁾. Therefore blocking IL-1 β , improve the function of the β -cells or possibly allows for partial regeneration of β -cells ⁽¹⁷³⁾.

4.4.2 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on total antioxidant capacity (TAC):

The human body is equipped with a complete arsenal of defenses against external and internal aggression. Those protecting against the so called reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide anion, hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide are crucial in inflammatory and antibacterial responses ⁽¹⁷⁴⁾. The concentrations of these metabolic intermediates are kept under strict control by the activity of a complex defence system including enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) and molecule with thiol groups such as glutathione. However, an uncontrolled production of ROS is liable to occur in several conditions leading to a situation known as (oxidative stress) where high levels of ROS can attack many essential biomolecules (haemoglobin (Hb) protein, DNA, RNA, lipids) and various cell structures, causing oxidative damage. In fact, many pathological processes are initiated or aggravated by such processes ⁽¹⁷⁵⁾, many clinical and experimental previous studies recognize the potent antioxidant effect of sildenafil. Sildenafil prevents induction of oxidative stress in salivary glands. There is also good evidence of lipid peroxidation protection properties of cAMP or cGMP analogues in plasma of diabetic rats, and rat neural and renal cells, where the current results for the oxidative status of sildenafil support these findings ^(176, 177).

On the other hand, a role for reactive oxygen intermediates in the regulation of hepatic glucose production also has been reported, indicated a protective role for cGMP from induction of oxidative stress inside cells. It has been reported that sildenafil, through the inhibition of PDE5 and augmentation of inhibitory action of the NO-cGMP axis on NADPH oxidase expression and activity inhibits superoxide formation. Thus antioxidant potential of sildenafil might be another mechanism for its glucose lowering effect and inhibition of glycogenolysis ⁽⁷³⁾, the hypothesis that

was also established in another work that proposed the protective effects of cAMP and cGMP phosphodiesterase inhibitors in restoration of hyperglycemia stress back to their antioxidant potentials in diabetic rat β -cell ⁽⁷⁴⁾. Thus, reducing superoxide levels may be an important method to lowering glucose level. Sildenafil citrate by enhancing cGMP levels, inhibit the activity and expression of NADPH oxidase in mitochondria. If the activity and expression of NADPH oxidase are inhibited, then the formation of ROS will decrease and antioxidant enzymes will increase. Therefore, elevated cGMP levels and decreased superoxide formation would augment antioxidant enzyme activities. The resultant decrease in endogenous superoxide would in turn increase the bioavailability of NO. Enhanced NO availability would further inhibit NAD[P]H oxidase activity and expression. This would create a 'self-augmenting' therapeutic loop (fig. 4-1)⁽¹⁷⁸⁾.

Authors in previous studies also propose that PDE5 inhibiter might have potent antioxidant effect, either through upregulation of SOD and catalase, although MDA levels decreased slightly. The increase in red blood cell CAT and SOD values in subjects during sildenafil treatments has been attributed to the inhibition of free radicals and lipid peroxidation ^(176, 179). Sildenafil citrate has been shown to have protective effects against oxidative stress by inhibiting free radical formation and supporting antioxidant redox systems, and it was suggested that this reduction in oxidative stress results in improvement of endothelial function ⁽¹⁸⁰⁾.



Fig. (4-1) ⁽¹⁷⁸⁾: Proposed mechanism underlying the antioxidant effect of sildenafil. PDE5: Phosphodiesterase-5; NO: Nitric oxide; GMP: Guanosine monophosphate; GTP: Guanosine triphosphate; NADPH: Reduced Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; O₂⁻: Superoxide anion; ONOO: Peroxynitrite.

4.4.3 Effect of various doses of sildenafil citrate on serum fasting blood glucose (FBS) and C- peptide:

After all revealed explanation discussed previously, suppose that sildenafil after daily oral dose for six weeks lowered blood glucose and markedly increase Cpeptide level in higher dose. Additionally, these results agreed with previous studies; where, nitric oxide (NO) may play a key role in mediating the metabolic effects of insulin, including stimulation of muscle glucose uptake in a mouse model of insulin resistance (181). Given the role of NO-cGMP signaling in muscle metabolism, the current studies addressed the hypothesis that augmenting cGMP signaling by preventing cGMP hydrolysis would enhance in vivo insulin action. Because an increase in blood flow may enhance muscle glucose uptake by increasing delivery of substrates to skeletal muscles, inhibition of PDE5 in the arterial vasculature would be predicted as another mechanism in decrease fasting blood glucose (182). As previously mentioned, a role for central inhibition of phosphodiesterase-5 on energy and glucose metabolism is also a possibility that cannot be ruled out ⁽⁵⁷⁾. Sildenafil, through the inhibition of PDE5 and augmentation on the action of NO-cGMP axis shows similar effects to NO in many organs. Also, injection of NO in alloxan-induced diabetic mice mimics the effect of insulin in the control of hyperglycemia by lowering plasma glucose concentration. Moreover, the hypoglycemic effect of sildenafil is related to increase in liver glycogen content (LGC) where blood glucose is converted to hepatic glycogen. Effects of sildenafil on LGC were in agreement with those reported by Hoseini S et al 2006 who found that sildenafil administration markedly reduces liver glycogenolysis ⁽⁷³⁾.

Low doses of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors have distinct effects on liver, other insulin-sensitive tissues additional and main site of glucose utilization for storage as glycogen by promoting substrate uptake and glucose removal via NO-cGMP pathway increases blood flow and enhance the circulation. Further putative

underlying mechanisms of blood glucose lowering effect of sildenafil, NO-cGMP pathway activates expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator-1 α , thereby enhancing mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation ^(183, 133). Interestingly, only high dose of sildenafil affected C-peptide level and increased its level, also this findings with agreement of other study where sildenafil elevated serum insulin, C-peptide levels, LGC and decreased blood glucose level in dose dependent manner ⁽¹⁴⁶⁾. Inhibition of cGMP hydrolysis activates cGMP-dependent protein kinase G, which phosphorylates and activates hormone-sensitive lipase then increases free fatty acid (FFA) availability and energy expenditure. Pancreatic β -cells are affected by FFAs depending on the duration of exposure. Acutely, FFAs exaggerated insulin secretion ⁽¹⁸⁴⁾.

4.5 Conclusion

- Administration of sildenafil markedly lowers blood glucose concentration which in turn related to increase liver glycogen content, reduction in liver glycogenolysis and glycogen phosphorylase activity.
- Sildenafil increase EGF production which improve synthesis of insulin from the β cells of islets of Langerhans.
- Sildenafil improves the function of the β -cells or possibly allows for partial regeneration of β -cells by possessing the anti-oxidant properties and anti-inflammatory effect through down regulation of IL-1 β .

4.6 Recommendations

- Longer duration of treatment with large scale of rats.
- Using of larger doses of sildenafil with different rout of administration.
- Study the effect of sildenafil on other markers such as eNOS, specific protein kinase, Natriuretic peptide (NP), glucagon, TNFα and IL-6.
- Investigate the effect of sildenafil on EGF and IL-1 β gene expression.
- Study the effect of sildenafil on experimental diabetic animal model.
- Study the effect of sildenafil in treatment of obesity.

References

References

1- Ghasemian E, Vatanara A, Najafabadi AR, Rouini MR, Gilani K, Darabi M. Preparation, characterization and optimization of sildenafil citrate loaded PLGA nanoparticles by statistical factorial design. *DARU Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 2013; 21:68.

2- Rosen RC, Wing R, Schneider S, Gendrano IIIN. Epidemiology of erectile dysfunction: the role of medical comorbidities and lifestyle factors. *Urologic Clinics of North America* 2005; 32(4):403–417.

3- Thompson CS, Mumtaz FH, Khan MA, Wallis RM, Mikhailidis DP, Morgan RJ, Angelini GD, Jeremy JY. The effect of sildenafil on corpus cavernosal smooth muscle relaxation and cyclic GMP formation in the diabetic rabbit. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 2001; 425: 57-64.

4- Dai W, Kloner RA. Is inhibition of phosphodiesterase type-5 by sildenafil a promising therapy for volume overload heart failure. *Circulation* 2012; 125(11): 1341-1343.

5- Carvajal JA, Germain AM, Huidobro-Toro JP, Weiner CP. Molecular mechanism of cGMP mediated smooth muscle relaxation. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 2000; 184(3), 409-420.

6- Milani E, Nikfar S, Khorasani R, Zamani MJ, Abdollahi M. Reduction of diabetes-induced oxidative stress by phosphodiesterase inhibitors in rats. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology* 2005; 140(2): 251-255.

7- Morgado M, Cairrao E, Santos-Silva AJ, Verde I. Cyclic nucleotide-dependent relaxation pathways in vascular smooth muscle. *Cellular and molecular life sciences* 2012; 69(2):247-266.

8- Maurice DH, Palmer D, Tilley DG, Dunkerley HA, Netherton SJ, Raymond DR, Elbatarny HS, Jimmo SL. Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase activity, expression, and targeting in cells of the cardiovascular system. *Molecular pharmacology* 2003; 64(3): 533-546.

9- Zieba BJ, Artamonov MV, Jin L, Momotani K, Ho R, Franke AS, Neppl RL, Stevenson AS, Khromov AS, Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M, Somlyo AV. The cAMP-responsive Rap1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor, Epac, induces smooth muscle relaxation by down-regulation of RhoA activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2011; 286(19): 16681-16692.

10- Roh H, Son H, Lee D, Yeon KJ, Kim HS, Kim H, Park K. Pharmacokinetic comparison of an orally disintegrating film formulation with a film-coated tablet formulation of sildenafil in healthy Korean subjects: a randomized, open-label, single-dose, 2-period crossover study. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2013; 35(3): 205–214.

11- Vos RM, Chahbouni A, Sinjewel A, Swart EL. Quantitative analysis of sildenafil and demethylsildenafil in human serum by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry with minimal sample pretreatment. *Journal of Chromatography B*. 2008; 876(2): 283–287.

12- Carson C, Burnett A, Levine LA, Nehra A. The efficacy of sildenafil citrate (Viagra®) clinical populations: an update. *Urology* 2002; 60(2): 12-27.

13- Laties AM. Vision disorders and phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors: a review of the evidence to date. *Drug Safety* 2009; 32(1): 1-18.

14- Maddox PT, Saunders J, Chandrasekhar SS. Sudden hearing loss from PDE-5 inhibitors: a possible cellular stress etiology. *Laryngoscope* 2009; 119(8): 1586–1589.

15- Galie N, Ghofrani HA, Torbicki A, Barst RJ, Rubin LJ, Badesch D, Fleming T, Parpia T, Burgess G, Branzi A, Grimminger F, Kurzyna M, Simonneau G.

Sildenafil citrate therapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2005; 353(20): 2148–4157.

16- Dal Piaz V, Giovannoni MP. Phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitors, structurally unrelated to rolipram, as promising agents for the treatment of asthma and other pathologies. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 2000; 35(5):463-80.

17- Smolenski A. Novel roles of cAMP / cGMP - dependent signaling in platelets. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 2012; 10(2):167-176.

18- Helmy M, Helmy MM, ALLAH D, ZAID A, El-Din MM. Role of nitrergic and endothelin pathways modulations in cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in male rats. *Journal of physiology and pharmacology* 2014; 65(3): 393-399.

19- Bischoff E. Vardenafil preclinical trial data: potency, pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics, and adverse events. *International Journal of Impotence Research* 2004; 16(1): 34-37.

20- Hoseini S, Esmaily H, Mohammadirad A, Abdollahi M. Effects of Sildenafil a Phosphodiesterase 5 Inhibitor on Rat Liver Cell Key Enzymes of Gluconeogenesis and Glycogenolysis. *International Journal of Pharmacology* 2006; 2 (3): 280-285.

21- Bender AT, Beavo JA. Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases: molecular regulation to clinical use. *Pharmacological Reviews* 2006; 58 (3): 488–520.

22- Francis SH, Blount MA, Zoraghi R, Corbin JD. Molecular properties of mammalian proteins that interact with cGMP: protein kinases, cation channels, phospho- diesterases, and multi-drug anion transporters. *Frontiers in Bioscience* 2005; 10: 2097-2117.

23- Lugnier C. Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase (PDE) superfamily: a new target for the development of specific therapeutic agents. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 2006; 109(3):366-398.

24- Kass DA, Takimoto E, Nagayama T, Champion HC. Phosphodiesterase regulation of nitric oxide signalling. *Cardiovascular Research* 2007; 75(2): 303-314.

25- Alexandra M, Gary A, Heather N. The Role of Cyclic Nucleotide Signaling Pathways in Cancer: Targets for Prevention and Treatment. *Cancers (Basel)* 2014; 6(1): 436–458.

26- Cheepala S, Hulot J.S, Morgan JA, Sassi Y, Zhang W, Naren AP, Schuetz JD. Cyclic nucleotide compartmentalization: Contributions of phosphodiesterases and ATP-binding cassette transporters. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* 2013; 53: 231-253.

27- Rehmann H, Wittinghofer A, Bos JL. Capturing cyclic nucleotides in action: Snapshots from crystallographic studies. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2007; 8(1): 63–73.

28- Omori K, Kotera J. Overview of PDEs and their regulation. *Circulation research*. 2007; 100(3): 309–327.

29- Beavo JA, Brunton LL. Cyclic nucleotide research - still expanding after half a century. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2002; 3(9): 710–718.

30- Insel PA, Zhang L, Murray F, Yokouchi H, Zambon AC. Cyclic AMP is both a pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic second messenger. *Acta Physiologica* 2012; 204(2): 277–287.

31- Mayr B, Montminy M. Transcriptional regulation by the phosphorylationdependent factor CREB. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2001; 2(8): 599 - 609.

32- Wielinga PR, van der Heijden I, Reid G, Beijnen JH, Wijnholds J, Borst P. Characterization of the MRP4- and MRP5-mediated transport of cyclic nucleotides from intact cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2003; 278(20): 17664 - 17671.

33- Feil R, Kemp-Harper B. cGMP signalling: From bench to bedside. Conference on cGMP generators, effectors and therapeutic implications. *EMBO Reports*. 2006;
7: 149-153.

34- Deguchi A, Soh JW, Li H, Pamukcu R, Thompson WJ, Weinstein IB. Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP) phosphorylation provides a biomarker for the action of exisulind and related agents that activate protein kinase G. Mol. *Cancer Therapeutics* 2002; 1(10): 803-809.

35- Nikolaev VO, Gambaryan S, Engelhardt S, Walter U, Lohse MJ. Real-time monitoring of the PDE2 activity of live cells: hormone-stimulated cAMP hydrolysis is faster than hormone-stimulated cAMP synthesis. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2005; 280 (3): 1716–1719.

36- Keung W, Vanhoutte PM, Man RY. Acute impairment of contractile responses by 17β - estradiol is cAMP and protein kinase G dependent in vascular smooth muscle cells of the porcine coronary arteries. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2005; 144(1): 71-79.

37- Kaissling B, Le Hir M. The renal cortical interstitium: morphological and functional aspects. *Histochemistry & Cell Biology* 2008; 130(2): 247–262.

38- Ghayur MN, Krepinsky JC, Janssen LJ. Contractility of the renal glomerulus and mesangial cells: Lingering doubts and strategies for the future. *Medical Hypotheses and Research* 2008; 4(1): 1–9.

39- Humbert M, Sitbon O, Simonneau G. Treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *New england journal of medicine* 2004; 351(14):1425-1436.

40- Ebrahimi F, Shafaroodi H, Asadi S, Nezami BG, Ghasemi M, Rahimpour S, Hashemi M, Doostar Y, Dehpour AR. Sildenafil decreased cardiac cell apoptosis in diabetic mice: reduction of oxidative stress as a possible mechanism. *Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology* 2009; 87(7): 556-564.

41- Elberry AA, Almohamadi AM. Sildenafil ameliorates cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in wistar rats. *World journal of pharmacy and pharma- ceutical sciences* 2014; 3(3): 151-161.

42- Camano S, Lazaro A, Moreno-Gordaliza E, Torres AM, de Lucas C, Humanes B, Lazaro JA, Gomez-Gomez MM, Bosca L, Tejedor A. Cilastatin attenuates cisplatin-induced proximal tubular cell damage. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 2010; 334(2): 419-429.

43- Lopez-Novoa JM, Quiros Y, Vicente L, Morales AI, Lopez-Hernandez FJ. New insights into the mechanism of aminoglycoside nephrotoxicity: an integrative point of view. *Kidney international* 2011; 79(1): 33-45.

44- Rodríguez-Iturbe B, Ferrebuz A, Vanegas V, Quiroz Y, Espinoza F, Pons H, Vazri N.D. Early treatment with cGMP phosphodiesterase inhibitor ameliorates progression of renal damage. *Kidney international* 2005; 68(5): 2131-2142.

45- Cadirci E, Halici Z, Odabasoglu F, Albayrak A, Karakus E, Unal D, Atalay F, Ferah I, Unal B. Sildenafil treatment attenuates lung and kidney injury due to overproduction of oxidant activity in a rat model of sepsis: a biochemical and histopathological study. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* 2011;166(3): 374-384.

46- Elmarakby AA, Sullivan JC. Relationship between oxidative stress and inflammatory cytokines in diabetic nephropathy. *Cardiovascular therapeutics* 2012;30(1):49-59.

47- Eremina V, Baelde HJ, Quaggin SE. Role of the VEGF- asignaling pathway in the glomerulus: Evidence for crosstalk between components of the glomerular filtration barrier. *Nephron Physiology* 2007; 106(2): 32-37.

48- Hines IN, Harada H, Flores S, Gao B, McCord JM, Grisham MB. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase protects the post-ischemic liver: potential interactions with superoxide. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy* 2005; 59(4): 183-189.

49- Abu-Amara M, Yang SY, Seifalian A, Davidson B, Fuller B. The nitric oxide pathway–evidence and mechanisms for protection against liver ischaemia reperfusion injury. *Liver International* 2012; 32(4): 531-543.

50- Duranski MR, Elrod JW, Calvert JW, Bryan NS, Feelisch M, Lefer DJ. Genetic overexpression of eNOS attenuates hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 2006;291(6): 2980-2986.

51- Savvanis S, Nastos C, Tasoulis MK, Papoutsidakis N, Demonakou M, Karmaniolou I, Arkadopoulos N, Smyrniotis V, Theodoraki K. Sildenafil attenuates hepatocellular injury after liver ischemia reperfusion in rats: a preliminary study. *Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity* 2014; 2014: 1-10.

52- Carini R, De Cesaris MG, Splendore R, Domenicotti C, Nitti MP, Pronzato MA, Albano E. Signal pathway responsible for hepatocyte preconditioning by nitric oxide. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2003; 34(8): 1047-1055.

53- Carini R, De Cesaris MG, Splendore R, Albano E. Stimulation of p38 MAP kinase reduces acidosis and Na+ overload in preconditioned hepatocytes. *Federation of European Biochemical Societies letters* 2001; 491(3): 180-183.

54- Toei M, Saum R, Forgac M. Regulation and isoform function of the V-ATPases. *Biochemistry* 2010; 49(23): 4715-4723.

55- Carini R, Trincheri NF, Alchera E, De Cesaris MG, Castino R, Splendore R, Albano E, Isidoro C. PI3K-dependent lysosome exocytosis in nitric oxide-preconditioned hepatocytes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2006;40(10): 1738-1748.

56- Kim JS, Ohshima S, Pediaditakis P, Lemasters JJ. Nitric oxide: a signaling molecule against mitochondrial permeability transition-and pH-dependent cell death after reperfusion. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2004; 37(12): 1943-1950.

57- Ayala JE, Bracy DP, Julien BM, Rottman JN, Fueger PT, Wasserman DH. Chronic treatment with sildenafil improves energy balance and insulin action in high fat–fed conscious mice. *Diabetes* 2007; 56(4): 1025-1033.

58- Rizzo NO, Maloney E, Pham M, Luttrell I, Wessells H, Tateya S, Daum G, Handa P, Schwartz MW, Kim F. Reduced NO-cGMP signaling contributes to vascular inflammation and insulin resistance induced by high-fat feeding. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 2010; 30(4): 758-765.

59- Tateya S, Rizzo NO, Handa P, Cheng AM, Morgan-Stevenson V, Daum G, Clowes AW, Morton GJ, Schwartz MW, Kim F. Endothelial NO/cGMP/VASP signaling attenuates Kupffer cell activation and hepatic insulin resistance induced by high-fat feeding. *Diabetes* 2011; 60(11): 2792-2801.

60- Loureiro-Silva MR, Iwakiri Y, Abraldes JG, Haq O, Groszmann RJ. Increased phosphodiesterase-5 expression is involved in the decreased vasodilator response to nitric oxide in cirrhotic rat livers. *Journal of hepatology* 2006; 44(5): 886-893.

61- Lee KC, Yang YY, Wang YW, Hou MC, Lee FY, Lin HC, Lee SD. Acute administration of sildenafil enhances hepatic cyclic guanosine monophosphate production and reduces hepatic sinusoid resistance in cirrhotic patients. *Hepatology Research* 2008; 38(12): 1186-1193.

62- Lee KC, Yang YY, Huang YT, Lee FY, Hou MC, Lin HC, Lee SD. Administration of a low dose of sildenafil for 1 week decreases intrahepatic resistance in rats with biliary cirrhosis: the role of NO bioavailability. *Clinical Science* 2010; 119(1): 45-55.

63- Deibert P, Schumacher YO, Ruecker G, Opitz OG, Blum HE, Rössle M, Kreisel W. Effect of vardenafil, an inhibitor of phosphodiesterase-5, on portal haemodynamics in normal and cirrhotic liver–results of a pilot study. *Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics* 2006; 23(1): 121-128.

64- Li J, Fu P, Deleon M, French BA, French SW. The effect of Viagra (sildenafil citrate) on liver injury caused by chronic ethanol intragastric feeding in rats. *Experimental and molecular pathology* 2005; 78(2): 101-108.

65- Ockaili R, Salloum F, Hawkins J, Kukreja RC. Sildenafil (Viagra) induces powerful cardioprotective effect via opening of mitochondrial KATP channels in rabbits. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 2002; 283(3): 1263-1269.

66- Astaneie F, Afshari M, Mojtahedi A, Mostafalou S, Zamani MJ, Larijani B, Abdollahi M. Total antioxidant capacity and levels of epidermal growth factor and nitric oxide in blood and saliva of insulin-dependent diabetic patients. *Archives of medical research* 2005; 36(4): 376-381.

67- Larijani B, Salimi M, Pourkhalili N, Mohammadirad A, Baeeri M, Nili-Ahmadabadi A, Abdollahi M. Positive response of isolated rat pancreatic islets to IMOD; hopes for better transplant outcome and graft function. *Asian journal of animal and veterinary advances* 2011; 6(10): 1019-1025.

68- Abdollahi M, Safarhamidi H. Protection by nitric oxide of morphine-induced inhibition of rat submandibular gland function. *Pharmacological research* 2002; 45(2): 87-92.

69- Hoseini S, Esmaily H, Mohammadirad A, Abdollahi M. Effects of sildenafil a phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor on rat liver cell key enzymes of gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis. *International Journal of Pharmacology* 2006; 2(3): 280-285.

70- Khoshakhlagh P, Bahrololoumi-Shapourabadi M, Mohammadirad A, Ashtaral-Nakhai L, Minaie B, Abdollahi M. Beneficial effect of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor in experimental inflammatory bowel disease; molecular evidence for involvement of oxidative stress. *Toxicology mechanisms and methods* 2007; 17(5): 281-288.

71- Azadbar M, Ranjbar A, Hosseini-Tabatabaei A, Golestani A, Baeeri M, Sharifzadeh M, Abdollahi M. Interaction of phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor with malathion on rat brain mitochondrial-bound hexokinase activity. *Pesticide biochemistry and physiology* 2009; 95(3): 121-125.

72- Ranjbar A, Ghahremani MH, Sharifzadeh M, Golestani A, Ghazi-Khansari M, Baeeri M, Abdollahi M. Protection by pentoxifylline of malathion-induced toxic stress and mitochondrial damage in rat brain. *Human & experimental toxicology* 2010; 29(10): 851-864.

73- Rahimi R, Ghiasi S, Azimi H, Fakhari S, Abdollahi M. A review of the herbal phosphodiesterase inhibitors; future perspective of new drugs. *Cytokine* 2010; 49(2): 123-129.

74- Ghafour-Rashidi Z, Dermenaki-Farahani E, Aliahmadi A, Esmaily H, Ostad SN, Mohammadirad A, Abdollahi M. Protection by cAMP and cGMP phosphodiesterase inhibitors of diazinon-induced hyperglycemia and oxidative/ nitrosative stress in rat Langerhans islets cells: molecular evidence for involvement of non-cholinergic mechanisms. *Pesticide biochemistry and physiology* 2007; 87(3): 261-270.

75- Radfar M, Larijani B, Hadjibabaie M, Rajabipour B, Mojtahedi A, Abdollahi M. Effects of pentoxifylline on oxidative stress and levels of EGF and NO in blood of diabetic type-2 patients; a randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy* 2005; 59(6): 302-306.

76- Hanley SC, Pilotte A, Massie B, Rosenberg L: Cell origins of adult human islet in vitro dedifferentiation. *Laboratory Investigation* 2008; 88(7): 761-772.

77- Lechner A, Nolan AL, Blacken RA and Habener JF: Redifferentiation of insulin-secreting cells after in vitro expansion of adult human pancreatic islet tissue.

Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2005; 327(2): 581-588.

78- Cras-Meneur C, Elghazi L, Czernichow P and Scharfmann R. Epidermal growth factor increases undifferentiated pancreatic embryonic cells in vitro: a balance between proliferation and differentiation. *Diabetes* 2001; 50(7): 1571-1579.

79- Jun HS. In vivo regeneration of insulin-producing beta-cells. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 2010; 654: 627- 640.

80- Amin AH, Abd Elmageed ZY, Nair D, Partyka MI, Kadowitz PJ, Belmadani S, Matrougui K. Modified multipotent stromal cells with epidermal growth factor restore vasculogenesis and blood flow in ischemic hind-limb of type II diabetic mice. *Laboratory Investigation* 2010; 90(7): 985-996.

81- Ferlito A, Robbins KT, Shah JP, Medina JE, Silver CE, Al-Tamimi S, Fagan JJ, Paleri V, Takes RP, Bradford CR, Devaney KO, Stoeckli SJ, Weber RS, Bradley PJ, Suárez C, Leemans CR, Coskun HH, Pitman KT, Shaha AR, de Bree R, Hartl DM, Haigentz M Jr, Rodrigo JP, Hamoir M, Khafif A, Langendijk JA, Owen RP,Sanabria A, Strojan P, Vander Poorten V, Werner JA, Bień S, Woolgar JA, Zbären P, Betka J, Folz BJ, Genden EM, Talmi YP, Strome M, González Botas JH,Olofsson J, Kowalski LP, Holmes JD, Hisa Y, Rinaldo A. Proposal for a rational classification of neck dissections. *Head Neck* 2011; 33(3): 445-450.

82- Kashimata M, Sayeed S, Ka A, Onetti-Muda A, Sakagami H, Faraggiana T and Gresik EW. The ERK-1/2 signaling pathway is involved in the stimulation of branching morphogenesis of fetal mouse submandibular glands by EGF. *Developmental Biology* 2000; 220(2), 183-196.

83- El-Gamal DA, Mohamed AA, Abdel-Maksoud SA, Moustafa MA. Effect of sildenafil (Viagra) on epidermal growth factor expression in submandibular gland of diabetic male rats: histological and immunohistochemical study. *Egyptian Journal of Histology* 2011; 34(2): 403-414..

84- Pande M, Flora SJ. Lead induced oxidative damage and its response to combined administration of α -lipoic acid and succimers in rats. *Toxicology* 2002; 177(2): 187-196.

85- Abdollahi M, Fooladian F, Emami B, Zafari K, Bahreini-Moghadam A. Protection by sildenafil and theophylline of lead acetate-induced oxidative stress in rat submandibular gland and saliva. *Human & experimental toxicology* 2003; 22(11): 587-592.

86- Abdollahi M, Simaiee B. Stimulation by theophylline and sildenafil of rat submandibular secretion of protein, epidermal growth factor and flow rate. *Pharmacological Research* 2003; 48(5):445-449.

87- McMellen ME, Wakeman D, Longshore SW, McDuffie LA, Warner BW. Growth factors: possible roles for clinical management of the short bowel syndrome. *Seminars in pediatric surgery* 2010; 19(1):35-43.

88- Edwin F, Wiepz GJ, Singh R, Peet CR, Chaturvedi D, Bertics PJ, Patel TB. A historical perspective of the EGF receptor and related systems. *Methods in molecular biology* 2006; 327: 1-24.

89- Kamer AR, Sacks PG, Vladutiu A, Liebow C. EGF mediates multiple signals: dependence on the conditions. *International journal of molecular medicine* 2004; 13(1): 143-147.

90- Blobel CP. ADAMs: key components in EGFR signalling and development. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2005; 6(1): 32-43.

91- Li W, Hamada Y, Nakashima E, Naruse K, Kamiya H, Akiyama N, Hirooka H, Takahashi N, Horiuchi S, Hotta N, Oiso Y, Nakamura J. Suppression of 3-deoxy-glucosone and heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor mRNA expression by an aldose reductase inhibitor in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2004; 314(2): 370-376.

92- Fleming JM, Desury G, Polanco TA, Cohick WS. Insulin growth factor-I and epidermal growth factor receptors recruit distinct upstream signaling molecules to enhance AKT activation in mammary epithelial cells. *Endocrinology* 2006, 147(12): 6027-6035.

93- Eungdamrong NJ, Iyengar R. Computational approaches for modeling regulatory cellular networks. *Trends in Cell Biology* 2004; 14(12): 661-669.

94- Suarez-Pinzon WL, Yan Y, Power R, Brand SJ, Rabinovitch A. Combination Therapy With Epidermal Growth Factor and Gastrin Increases β-Cell Mass and Reverses Hyperglycemia in Diabetic NOD Mice. *Diabetes* 2005; 54(9): 2596 - 2601. **95-** Kayali AG, Stotland A, Gunst KV, Kritzik M, Liu G, Dabernat S, Zhang YQ, Wu W, Sarvetnick N. Growth factor-induced signaling of the pancreatic epithelium. *Journal of Endocrinology* 2005; 185(1): 45-56.

96- Larsen AB, Pedersen MW, Stockhausen MT, Grandal MV, van Deurs B, Poulsen HS. Activation of the EGFR Gene Target EphA2 Inhibits Epidermal Growth Factor–Induced Cancer Cell Motility. *Molecular cancer research* 2007; 5(3): 283-293.

97- Ferrer JC, Favre C, Gomis RR, Fernández-Novell JM, García-Rocha M, de la Iglesia N, Cid E, Guinovart JJ. Control of glycogen deposition. *FEBS Letters* 2003; 546(1): 127-132.

98- Shearer J, Graham TE. Novel aspects of skeletal muscle glycogen and its regulation during rest and exercise. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews* 2004; 32(3): 120-126.

99- Roach PJ, Depaoli-Roach AA, Hurley TD, Tagliabracci VS. Glycogen and its metabolism: some new developments and old themes. *Biochemical Journal* 2012; 441(3): 763–787.

100- Pederson BA, Cheng C, Wilson WA, Roach PJ. Regulation of glycogen synthase: identification of residues involved in regulation by the allosteric ligand

glucose-6-P and by phosphorylation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000; 275(36): 27753-27761.

101- Greenberg CC, Jurczak MJ, Danos AM, Brady MJ. Glycogen branches out: new perspectives on the role of glycogen metabolism in the integration of metabolic pathways. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2006; 291(1), 1-8.

102- Bouskila M, Hunter RW, Ibrahim AF, Delattre L, Peggie M, van Diepen JA, Voshol PJ, Jensen J, Sakamoto K. Allosteric regulation of glycogen synthase controls glycogen synthesis in muscle. *Cell Metabolism* 2010; 12(5), 456-466.

103- Patel S, Doble BW, MacAulay K, Sinclair EM, Drucker DJ, Woodgett JR. Tissue-specific role of glycogen synthase kinase 3β in glucose homeostasis and insulin action. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2008; 28(20): 6314-6328.

104- Obel LF, Müller MS, Walls AB, Sickmann HM, Bak LK, Waagepetersen HS, Schousboe A. Brain glycogen new perspectives on its metabolic function and regulation at the subcellular level. *Front Neuroenergetics* 2012; 4: 3.

105- Agius L. Glucokinase and molecular aspects of liver glycogen metabolism. *Biochemical Journal* 2008; 414(1), 1-18.

106- Maedler K, Dharmadhikari G, Schumann DM, Størling J. Interleukin-targeted therapy for metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes. *Handbook of experimental pharmacology* 2011; 203:257-278.

107- Luotola K, Pietilä A, Zeller T, Moilanen L, Kähönen M, Nieminen MS, Kesäniemi YA, Blankenberg S, Jula A, Perola M, Salomaa V. Associations between interleukin-1 (IL-1) gene variations or IL-1 receptor antagonist levels and the development of type 2 diabetes. *Journal of internal medicine* 2011; 269(3): 322-332.

108- Greten FR, Arkan MC, Bollrath J, Hsu LC, Goode J, Miething C, Göktuna SI, Neuenhahn M, Fierer J, Paxian S, Van Rooijen N, Xu Y, O'Cain T, Jaffee BB,

Busch DH, Duyster J, Schmid RM, Eckmann L, Karin M. NF-kappaB is a negative regulator of IL-1beta secretion as revealed by genetic and pharmacological inhibition of IKKbeta. *Cell* 2007; 130(5): 918-931.

109- Martinon F, Tschopp J. Inflammatory caspases and inflammasomes: master switches of inflammation. *Cell death & differentiation* 2007; 14(1): 10-22.

110- von Bülow V, Rink L, Haase H. Zinc-mediated inhibition of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase activity and expression suppresses TNF-alpha and IL-1beta production in monocytes by elevation of guanosine 3',5'- cyclic monophosphate. *Journal of Immunology* 2005; 175 (7): 4697-4705.

111- Welsh N, Cnop M, Kharroubi I, Bugliani M, Lupi R, Marchetti P, Eizirik DL. Is There a Role for Locally Produced Interleukin-1 in the Deleterious Effects of High Glucose or the Type 2 Diabetes Milieu to Human Pancreatic Islets? *American diabetes association* 2005; 54 (11): 3238-3244.

112- O'Neill CM, Lu C, Corbin KL, Sharma PR, Dula SB, Carter JD, Ramadan JW, Xin W, Lee JK, Nunemaker CS. Circulating levels of IL-1B+IL-6 cause ER stress and dysfunction in islets from prediabetic male mice. *Endocrinology* 2013; 154(9): 3077-3088.

113- Mojtaba E, Mahdi K, Mehdi KJ, Amir S. Serum interleukin-1 beta plays an important role in insulin secretion in type II diabetic. *International Journal of Biosciences* 2011; 1(3): 93-99.

114- Fluttert M, Dalm S, Oitzl MS. A refined method for sequential blood sampling by tail incision in rats. *Laboratory Animals* 2000; 34(4): 372-378.

115- Messier C, Kent P. Repeated blood glucose measures using a novel portable glucose meter. *Physiology & Behavior* 1995; 57(4): 807-811.

116- Al-Abbassi MG, Ibraheem M, Al-hindawi A, Salih SI. Effects of Atorvastatin and Streptozocin on Immunohistochemical Markers in Hippocampus of Male Adult

Rats. *MSc. Thesis submitted & accepted by Al-Mustansiriyah College of Pharmacy* 2014; p. 33.

117- Parasuraman S, Raveendran R, Kesavan R. Blood sample collection in small laboratory animals. *Journal of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapeutics* 2010; 1(2):87.

118- Kinasiewicz A, Juszczak M, Pachecka J, Fiedor P. Pancreatic islets isolation using different protocols with in situ flushing and intraductal collagenase injection. *Physiological research* 2004; 53: 327-334.

119- Bancroft JD, Stevens A. Theory and practice of histological techniques. 2nd edition. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone 1987; 482-502.

120- Jetton TL, Shiota M, Knobel SM, Piston DW, Cherrington AD, Magnuson MA. Substrate-induced nuclear export and peripheral compartmentalization of hepatic glucokinase correlates with glycogen deposition. *Experimental Diabetes Research* 2001; 2(3): 173-186.

121- Akkila S., Salman S., Elewei S. Leptin and the metabolism: A comprehensive histochemical and biochemical study in heathy and diabetic animals. *Ph.D. Thesis submitted & accepted by Al-Mustansiriyah Medical College* 2014; p. 45.

122- Apte U, Singh S, Zeng G, Cieply B, Virji MA, Wu T, Monga SP. Beta-catenin activation promotes liver regeneration after acetaminophen-induced injury. *The American journal of pathology* 2009; 175 (3): 1056-1065.

123- Ota I, Higashiyama S, Masui T, Yane K, Hosoi H, Matsuura N. Heparinbinding EGF-like growth factor enhances the activity of invasion and metastasis in thyroid cancer cells. *Oncology reports* 2013; 30(4): 1593-1600.

124- Deng Z, Niu G, Cai L, Wei R, Zhao X. The Prognostic Significance of CD44V6, CDH11, and β -Catenin Expression in Patients with Osteosarcoma. *BioMed Research International* 2013; 2013: 496193.
125- Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, Zurawski G, Moshrefi M, Qin J, Li X, Gorman DM. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity* 2005; 23 (5): 479-490.

126- Siqueira IR, Fochesatto C, de Andrade A, Santos M, Hagen M, Bello-Klein A, Netto CA. Total antioxidant capacity is impaired in different structures from aged rat brain. *International journal of developmental neuroscience* 2005; 23 (8): 663-671.

127- Imai K, Watari S, Sakazume T, Mitsuyama S. Clinical Chemistry and Immunoassay Testing Supporting the Individual Healthy Life. *Hitachi Review* 2008; 57:1.

128- Bard AJ, Liu CY, inventors; Board of Regents of the University of Texas System, assignee. Electrochemistry and electrogenerated chemiluminescence with a single faradaic electrode. *United states patent US 8,702,958* 2014; 22.

129- Daniel WW. Biostatistics: a Foundation for Analysis in the Health Sciences.4th ed. New York: Wiley & Sons 1987; 537–552.

130- Bivalacqua TJ, Musicki B, Hsu LL, Berkowitz DE, Champion HC, Burnett AL. Sildenafil citrate-restored eNOS and PDE5 regulation in sickle cell mouse penis prevents priapism via control of oxidative / nitrosative stress. *Public Library of Science one* 2013; 8(7): e68028.

131- Tran D, Howes LG. Cardiovascular safety of sildenafil. *Drug Safety* 2003; 26: 453-460.

132- Jobgen WS, Fried SK, Fu WJ, Meininger CJ, Wu G. Regulatory role for the arginine–nitric oxide pathway in metabolism of energy substrates. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry* 2006; 17(9): 571-588.

133- Dai Z, Wu Z, Yang Y, Wang J, Satterfield MC, Meininger CJ, Bazer FW, Wu
G. Nitric oxide and energy metabolism in mammals. *BioFactors* 2013; 39(4): 383-391.

134- Engeli S, Birkenfeld AL, Badin PM, Bourlier V, Louche K, Viguerie N, Thalamas C, Montastier E, Larrouy D, Harant I, de Glisezinski I. Natriuretic peptides enhance the oxidative capacity of human skeletal muscle. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2012; 122(12): 4675-4679.

135- Lafontan M, Moro C, Berlan M, Crampes F, Sengenes C, Galitzky J. Control of lipolysis by natriuretic peptides and cyclic GMP. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2008; 19(4): 130-137.

136- Loughney K, Hill TR, Florio VA, Uher L, Rosman GJ, Wolda SL, Jones BA, Howard ML, McAllister-Lucas LM, Sonnenburg WK, Francis SH. Isolation and characterization of cDNAs encoding PDE5A, a human cGMP-binding, cGMP-specific 3', 5'-cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase. *Gene* 1998; 216(1): 139-147.

137- Phillips BG, Kato M, Pesek CA, Winnicki M, Narkiewicz K, Davison D, Somers VK. Sympathetic activation by sildenafil. *Circulation* 2000; 102(25): 3068-3073.

138- Nisoli E, Clementi E, Paolucci C, Cozzi V, Tonello C, Sciorati C, Bracale R, Valerio A, Francolini M, Moncada S, Carruba MO. Mitochondrial biogenesis in mammals: the role of endogenous nitric oxide. *Science* 2003; 299(5608): 896-899.

139- Nisoli E, Falcone S, Tonello C, Cozzi V, Palomba L, Fiorani M, Pisconti A, Brunelli S, Cardile A, Francolini M, Cantoni O. Mitochondrial biogenesis by NO yields functionally active mitochondria in mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2004; 101(47): 16507-16512.

140- Gong L, Pitari GM, Schulz S, Waldman SA. Nitric oxide signaling: systems integration of oxygen balance in defense of cell integrity. *Current opinion in hematology* 2004; 11(1): 7-14.

141- Ruiz-Stewart I, Tiyyagura SR, Lin JE, Kazerounian S, Pitari GM, Schulz S, Martin E, Murad F, Waldman SA. Guanylyl cyclase is an ATP sensor coupling nitric oxide signaling to cell metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2004; 101(1): 37-42.

142- Sarnelli G, Sifrim D, Janssens J, Tack J. Influence of sildenafil on gastric sensorimotor function in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastro-intestinal and Liver Physiology* 2004; 287(5): 988-992.

143- Wang L, Chopp M, Szalad A, Jia L, Lu X, Lu M, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Zhang R, Zhang ZG. Sildenafil ameliorates long term peripheral neuropathy in Type II diabetic mice. *Public Library of Science one* 2015; 10(2): e0118134.

144- Vollmer K, Gardiwal H, Menge BA, Goetze O, Deacon CF, Schmidt WE, Holst JJ, Meier JJ. Hyperglycemia acutely lowers the postprandial excursions of glucagon-like peptide-1 and gastric inhibitory polypeptide in humans. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2009; 94(4): 1379-1385.

145- Abdollahi M, Donyavi M, Pournourmohammadi S, Saadat M. Hyperglycemia associated with increased hepatic glycogen phosphorylase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase in rats following subchronic exposure to malathion. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: *Toxicology & Pharmacology* 2004; 137(4): 343-347.

146- El Sayed ME, Eid N, Kamel AS. Beneficial effects of certain phosphodiesterase inhibitors on diabetes mellitus in rats. *Bulletin of Faculty of Pharmacy, Cairo University* 2014; 52(2): 179-189.

147- Abbott D, Comby P, Charuel C, Graepel P, Hanton G, Leblanc B, Lodola A, Longeart L, Paulus G, Peters C, Stadler J. Preclinical safety profile of sildenafil. *International journal of impotence research* 2004; 16(6): 498-504.

148- Cidad P, Almeida A, Bolaños JP. Inhibition of mitochondrial respiration by nitric oxide rapidly stimulates cytoprotective GLUT3-mediated glucose uptake

through 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase. *Biochemical Journal* 2004; 384(3): 629-636.

149- Floettmann E, Gregory L, Teague J, Myatt J, Hammond C, Poucher SM, Jones HB. Prolonged inhibition of glycogen phosphorylase in livers of Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats models human glycogen storage diseases. *Toxicologic pathology* 2010; 38(3): 393-401.

150- Abdel-Hafez AM, Othman MA. Effect of sildenafil citrate on the structure of rat liver: a histological, histochemical and immunohistochemical study. *Egyptian Journal of Histology* 2013; 36(4): 991-1003.

151- Jarrar BM, Almansour MI. Hepatic histological alterations and biochemical changes induced by sildenafil overdoses. *Pakistan Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 2015; 28(6): 2119-2127.

152- Moore MC, Coate KC, Winnick JJ, An Z, Cherrington AD. Regulation of hepatic glucose uptake and storage *in vivo*. *Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal* 2012; 3(3): 286-294.

153- An Z, Winnick JJ, Moore MC, Farmer B, Smith M, Irimia JM, Roach PJ, Cherrington AD. A Cyclic Guanosine Monophosphate–Dependent Pathway Can Regulate Net Hepatic Glucose Uptake *in Vivo*. *Diabetes* 2012; 61(10): 2433-2441.

154- Choudhury J, Sanyal AJ. Insulin resistance and the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clinics in liver disease* 2004; 8(3): 575-594.

155- Andersson O. Role of adenosine signalling and metabolism in β -cell regeneration. *Experimental cell research* 2014; 321(1): 3-10.

156- Buschiazzo A, Ugalde JE, Guerin ME, Shepard W, Ugalde RA, Alzari PM. Crystal structure of glycogen synthase: homologous enzymes catalyze glycogen synthesis and degradation. *The EMBO journal* 2004; 23(16): 3196-3205.

157- Cantó C, Auwerx J. AMP-activated protein kinase and its downstream transcriptional pathways. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 2010; 67(20): 3407-3423.

158- Abdollahi M, Soleimani F, Kangarlou S. A review on blood glucose variations and affecting parameters. *Middle East pharma* 2003;11:6-10.

159- Abdollahi M, Chan TS, Subrahmanyam V, O'brien PJ. Effects of phosphodiesterase 3, 4, 5 inhibitors on hepatocyte cAMP levels, glycogenolysis, gluconeogenesis and suceptibility to a mitochondrial toxin. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry* 2003; 252(1-2): 205-211.

160- Atefi M, Ghazanfari S, Ostad SN, Ghahremani MH, Abdollahi M. Alteration of glucose homeostasis by rolipram and milrinone but not sildenafil in rat primary hepatocytes culture. *program Medical Research* 2004; 2(13): 1-2.

161- Zaccolo M, Movsesian MA. cAMP and cGMP signaling cross-talk role of phosphodiesterases and implications for cardiac pathophysiology. *Circulation Research* 2007; 100(11): 1569-1578.

162- Staruschenko A, Palygin O, Ilatovskaya DV, Pavlov TS. Epidermal growth factors in the kidney and relationship to hypertension. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology* 2013; 305(1): 12-20.

163- Mohammadi M, Atashpour S, Pourkhalili N, Nili-Ahmadabadi A, Baeeri M, Mohammadirad A, Hassani S, Nikfar S, Abdollahi M. Comparative improvement in function of isolated rat Langerhans islets by various phosphodiesterase 3, 4 and 5 inhibitors. *Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances* 2011; 6(12): 1233-1240.

164- Pilz RB, Casteel DE. Regulation of gene expression by cyclic GMP. *Circulation Research* 2003; 93(11): 1034-1046.

165- Pilz RB, Broderick KE. Role of cyclic GMP in gene regulation. *Frontiers in bioscience: a journal and virtual library* 2004; 10: 1239-1268.

166- Ekström J, Khosravani N, Castagnola M, Messana I. Saliva and the control of its secretion. *In Dysphagia Springer Berlin Heidelberg* 2011; 19-47.

167- Uthayathas S, Karuppagounder SS, Tamer SI, Parameshwaran K, Degim T, Suppiramaniam V, Dhanasekaran M. Evaluation of neuroprotective and anti-fatigue effects of sildenafil. *Life sciences* 2007; 81(12): 988-992.

168- Borisov N, Aksamitiene E, Kiyatkin A, Legewie S, Berkhout J, Maiwald T, Kaimachnikov NP, Timmer J, Hoek JB, Kholodenko BN. Systems-level interactions between insulin–EGF networks amplify mitogenic signaling. *Molecular systems biology* 2009; 5(1): 256.

169- Wang T, Liu Y, Chen L, Wang X, Hu XR, Feng YL, Liu DS, Xu D, Duan YP, Lin J, Ou XM. Effect of sildenafil on acrolein-induced airway inflammation and mucus production in rats. *European Respiratory Journal* 2009; 33(5): 1122-1132.

170- Jeong KH, Lee TW, Ihm CG, Lee SH, Moon JY, Lim SJ. Effects of sildenafil on oxidative and inflammatory injuries of the kidney in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *American journal of nephrology* 2009; 29(3): 274-282.

171- Hlaing S, Garcia LA, Kovanecz I, Artaza JN, Ferrini MG. sildenafil induces the expression of neurotrophic factors and down regulation of inflammatory cytokines in the pelvic ganglia neurons after bilateral cavernosal nerve resection. *The Journal of Urology* 2011;185(4):e453.

172- Shimomura Y, Hara M, Mizote I, Nakaoka Y, Tanaka H, Asano Y, Sakata Y, Komuro I. Sildenafil and steroid therapy effectively improved POEMS syndrome-associated pulmonary arterial hypertension. *International journal of hematology* 2010; 92(5): 774-776.

173- Dinarello CA. A clinical perspective of IL-1 β as the gatekeeper of inflammation. *European journal of immunology* 2011; 41(5): 1203-1217.

174- Nazıroglu M, Góth L. Molecular mechanisms of vitamin E on intracellular signalling pathways in brain. *Reactive oxygen species and diseases* 2007: 239-256.

175- Eren I, Nazıroğlu M, Demirdaş A. Protective effects of lamotrigine, aripiprazole and escitalopram on depression-induced oxidative stress in rat brain. *Neurochemical research* 2007; 32(7): 1188-1195.

176- Perk H, Armagan A, Nazıroğlu M, Soyupek S, Hoscan MB, Sütcü R, Ozorak A, Delibas N. Sildenafil citrate as a phosphodiesterase inhibitor has an antioxidant effect in the blood of men. *Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics* 2008; 33(6): 635-640.

177- Moustafa YM, Khoder DM, El-Awady EE, Zaitone SA. Sildenafil citrate protects against gastric mucosal damage induced by indomethacin in rats. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences* 2013; 17(2): 179-188.

178- Koupparis AJ, Jeremy JY, Muzaffar S, Persad R, Shukla N. Sildenafil inhibits the formation of superoxide and the expression of gp47phox NAD [P] H oxidase induced by the thromboxane A2 mimetic, U46619, in corpus cavernosal smooth muscle cells. *British Journal of Urology international* 2005; 96(3): 423-427.

179- Koka S, Kukreja RC. Attenuation of doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity by tadalafil: a long acting phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor. *Molecular and cellular pharmacology* 2010; 2(5): 173.

180- Savas M, Yeni E, Verit A, Gulum M, Aksoy N, Ciftci H, Celik H, Altunkol A, Oncel H. Acute effect of phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor on serum oxidative status and prolidase activities in men with erectile dysfunction. *Clinics* 2010; 65 (12): 1311-1314.

181- Zhang L, Vincent MA, Richards SM, Clerk LH, Rattigan S, Clark MG, Barrett EJ. Insulin sensitivity of muscle capillary recruitment in vivo. *Diabetes* 2004; 53(2): 447-453.

182- Vincent MA, Clerk LH, Lindner JR, Klibanov AL, Clark MG, Rattigan S, Barrett EJ. Microvascular recruitment is an early insulin effect that regulates skeletal muscle glucose uptake in vivo. *Diabetes* 2004; 53(6): 1418-1423.

183- Halverscheid L, Deibert P, Schmidt R, Blum HE, Dunkern T, Pannen BH, Kreisel W. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors have distinct effects on the hemodynamics of the liver. *Bend Memorial Clinic gastroenterology* 2009; 9(1):1.

184- Birkenfeld AL, Budziarek P, Boschmann M, Moro C, Adams F, Franke G, Berlan M, Marques MA, Sweep FC, Luft FC, Lafontan M. Atrial natriuretic peptide induces postprandial lipid oxidation in humans. *Diabetes* 2008; 57(12): 3199-3204.

الخلاصة

المقدمة:

السيلدينافيل هو مثبط انتقائي لأنزيم ثنائي الأستر الفسفوري النوع الخامس، مما يؤدي الى رفع النوكليوتيدات الدورية داخل الخلايا كمرسلات ثانوية تساهم في مسارات الإشارات بين الخلايا المشاركة في الاوضاع الفسيولوجية و المرضية. عامل نمو البشرة (EGF) يتم إنتاجه في القوارض بشكل رئيسي من قبل الغدد تحت الفكية والكلى، وهو مهم في تطوير خلايا-بيتا . الجليكوجين فسفو-ريليز (GP) هو الأنزيم الرئيسي في هدم الجليكوجين الذي يحفز عملية هدم الجليكوجين . في الكبد، الجليكوجين فسفو-ريليز (GP) له دور مهم في توازن السكر في الدم. انترلوكين-1 بيتا (IL- 1β) هو بروتين خلوى مؤيد للالتهابات يقوم بأدوار هامة في الالتهاب . 1β - 11 يرسل محفزات لنشاط الأنسولين و إفرازه.

الهدف:

التحقيق في التأثيرات النسيجية و الكيمياء المناعية للسيلدينافيل على الكلى والكبد والبنكرياس و الغدة تحت الفكية لذكور الجرذان البالغين.

المواد وطرق العمل:

تم تقسيم ثمان وأربعين من الجرذان الذكور البالغين إلى أربع مجمو عات متساوية :

المجموعة 1: بمثابة المجموعة الضابطة . المجموعة 2 و 3 و 4 : أعطيت الجرذان فيها 2،0،5 ، 2 ملغ / كغ من السيلدينافيل عن طريق الفم على التوالي (مرة واحدة يوميا عن طريق أنبوب المعدة) لمدة 6 اسابيع . تحت التخدير، تم تشريح جميع الحيوانات في هذه الدراسة بعد 6 أسابيع من العلاج . تم تجهيز الكلى والكبد والبنكرياس و الغدد تحت الفكية للفحص النسيجي و النسيجي الكيمياء المناعي . الدم تم جمعه لفحص النرلوكين-1 بيتا (1,6 ما ي المحمود المحدة المحمود المعدة) من المراحي . تم تجهيز الكلى والكبد والبنكرياس و الغدد تحت الفكية للفحص النسيجي و النسيجي الكيمياء المناعي . الدم تم جمعه لفحص النرلوكين-1 بيتا (1,6 ما ي المحمود المحدة المحمود المحدة المناعي . المم معه المحمود المحدة المناعي . المم معه المحمود المحمود المحمود المحمو المعدة المناعي . المم معه المحمود المحمود المحمود المحمود المما مع من العلام . و المحمود المحمو المحمود المح

النتائج:

كان هناك انخفاض ذو دلالة معنوية عالية (p<0.01) في وزن الجسم بعد الجرعة الفموية من السيلدينافيل (0.5، 1، 2 ملغ / كلغ) بالمقارنة مع وزن الجسم الأولي لكل حيوان في جميع الفئات. وقد لوحظ ارتفاع ذو دلالة معنوية عالية (p<0.01) مع محتوى جليكوجين الكبد في مجموعة A، B، P، P، يالمقارنة مع المجموعة الضابطة (D). ومن المثير للاهتمام، أن السيلدينافيل قام بتخفيض فسفوريليز جليكوجين الكبد (GP) بشكل ذو دلالة معنوية (p<0.05) في المجموعة (B) و بشكل ذو دلالة معنوية عالية (p<0.05) في المجموعة C مقارنة مع المجموعة (D بعد العلاج بالسيلدينافيل، الكشف النسيجي الكيمياء المناعي لعامل نمو البشرة (GF) في الكلى و (EGF) أظهر زيادة عدد الخلايا موجبة المناعة و تفاعل مناعي قوية لعامل نمو البشرة (EGF) في الكلى و (EGF) أظهر زيادة عدد الخلايا موجبة المناعة و تفاعل مناعي قوية لعامل نمو البشرة (EGF) في الكلى و الغدد تحت الفك السفلي بالمقارنة مع المجموعة الضابطة. تفاعلية مناعية قوية لمستقبلات عامل نمو البشرة (TAC) في الكلى و (EGF) تم تعيينها في الخلايا موجبة السادينافيل و بشكل ملحوظ يزيد إجمالي القدرة المضادة للأكسدة (TAC) في الكلى و في المصل ويقلل مستوى β-11 في المحموعة الضابطة. تفاعلية مناعية قوية لمستقبلات عامل نمو البشرة (EGF) في المصل ويقلل مستوى β-11 في المصل. مستويات السي الببتايد في المصل أظهرت ارتفاع ذو دلالة معنوية في المصل ويقلل مستوى β-11 في المصل. مستويات السي الببتايد في المصل أظهرت ارتفاع ذو دلالة معنوية عاليه مالية (P<0.01) في المصل ويقلل مستوى β-11 في المصل. مستويات السي الببتايد في المصل أظهرت ارتفاع ذو دلالة معنوية مالمحل ويقلل مستوى β-10 في المصل. مستويات السي الببتايد في المصل أظهرت ارتفاع ذو دلالة معنوية مالي معنوية عاليه (P<0.01) في المجموعة C بالمقارنة مع المجموعة إلى ذلك، تم تخفيض مستوى السكر في الدم معنوية عاليه و المكل ذو دلالة معنوية وال معنوى المحموعة العلاج الأخرى. وبالإضافة إلى ذلك، تم تخفيض مستوى السكر في المحموعة B و C بالمقارنة مع مجموعة العلاج الأخرى. وبالإضافة إلى ذلك، تم تخفيض معنوى السكر في المحموعة B و C بالمقارنة مع محموعة العلاج الأولي المتعلق بكل مجموعة.

الاستنتاج:

السيلدينافيل يمتلك فغالية عالية في رفع إنتاج عامل نمو البشرة (EGF) والذي من شأنه تحسين تصنيع الأنسولين في خلايا-بيتا و بالتالي يقال من تركيز السكر في الدم ويقلل من تهدم الجليكوجين الكبدي الى كلوكوز.

جمهورية العراق وزارة التعليم العالي والبحث العلمي الجامعة المستنصرية كلية الصيدلة



دراسة كيمياء حيوية و كيمياء مناعية نسيجية للسيلدنافيل على الأنسجة المختلفة في ذكور الجرذان

رسالة مقدمة الى فرع الأدوية والسموم والى لجنة الدراسات العليا في كلية الصيدلة /الجامعة المستنصرية كجزء من متطلبات الحصول على شهادة الماجستير في علوم الصيدلة (الأدوية والسموم) **من قبل** الصيدلاني أبراهيم حسن نشمي (بكالوريوس صيدلة 2002)

باشراف

أ.د. مصطفى غازي سلوم العباسي أ.م.د. مصطفى محمد العبيدي

1437ھ 1437